

Digital Footprint Report

Exploring the Sustainability Impact of the UnSchool's Digital Communication

Researched and Written By Laura Secorun With introduction and policy additions from Leyla Acaroglu

Published November 2019

About the Author

Laura Secorun is an investigative journalist reporting on human rights and the environment for international outlets like *The New York Times, The Guardian, Foreign Policy, Newsweek,* and others. She holds a Master's degree in International Journalism by City University along with a post-graduate certificate in Systems Thinking by Cornell University, and she is a trained educator of the UnSchool's Disruptive Design Method.

About the UnSchool

The UnSchool of Disruptive Design is a global experiential knowledge lab dedicated to supporting a rapid transition to a sustainable and regenerative future by design. The UnSchool designs and runs immersive learning experiences around the world and online. We develop tools and resources that support professionals adopting systems thinking, sustainability sciences and design for activating positive changemaking. We have a global community from over 45 countries and are dedicated to pioneering change for a sustainable and regenerative future.

Disclaimer

This report is intended for general guidance and information purposes only. This report is under no circumstances intended to be defamatory or slanderous to any of the organisations mentioned; the content which this research is based off is from publicly available information, all interpretations are just that and not intended to be a formal guide to the impact of these companies. All opinions expressed are those of the author.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

| Why this Report? | 5 |
|---|----|
| Executive Summary | 6 |
| Overview of Phases of Exploration and Development | 6 |
| Introduction to Digital Impacts | 7 |
| PHASE 1: EXTERNAL COMMUNICATION | 9 |
| Introduction | 9 |
| 1. Social Impact | 9 |
| 1.1 Buffer Social Impact | 10 |
| 1.2 Squarespace Social Impact | 10 |
| 1.3 Facebook Social Impact | 11 |
| 1.4 Instagram Social Impact | 12 |
| 1.5 Twitter Social Impact | 13 |
| 1.6 LinkedIn Social Impact | 13 |
| 1.7 Medium Social Impact | 14 |
| 1.8 Thinkific Social Impact | 14 |
| 1.9 YouTube Social Impact | 15 |
| 2. Environmental Impact | 16 |
| 2.1 Buffer Environmental Impact | 17 |
| 2.2 Squarespace Environmental Impact | 17 |
| 2.3 Facebook Environmental Impact | 17 |
| 2.4 Instagram Environmental Impact | 17 |
| 2.5 Twitter Environmental Impact | 17 |
| 2.6 LinkedIn Environmental Impact | 18 |
| 2.7 Medium Environmental Impact | 18 |
| 2.8 Thinkific Environmental Impact | 19 |
| 2.9 YouTube Environmental Impact | 19 |
| 3. Economic Impact | 19 |
| 3.1 Buffer Economic Impact | 20 |
| 3.2 Squarespace Economic Impact | 20 |
| 3.3 Facebook Economic Impact | 21 |
| 3.4 Instagram Economic Impact | 21 |
| 3.5 Twitter Economic Impact | 21 |
| 3.6 LinkedIn Economic Impact | 22 |
| 3.7 Medium Economic Impact | 22 |
| 3.8 Thinkific Economic Impact | 23 |
| 3.9 YouTube Economic Impact | 23 |
| 4.1 Impact Summary | 24 |
| 12 Recommendations | 25 |



| PHASE 2: INTERNAL COMMUNICATION | 27 |
|--|----|
| Introduction | 27 |
| 1. Social Impact | |
| 1.1 Google Social Impact | 27 |
| 1.2 Whatsapp Social Impact | 29 |
| 1.3 Canva Social Impact | 30 |
| 2. Environmental Impact | 30 |
| 2.1 Google Environmental Impact | 31 |
| 2.2 Whatsapp Environmental Impact | 31 |
| 2.3 Canva Environmental Impact | 31 |
| 3. Economic Impact | 31 |
| 2.1 Google Economic Impact | 31 |
| 2.2 Whatsapp Economic Impact | 32 |
| 2.3 Canva Economic Impact | 32 |
| 4. Alternative Tools | 33 |
| 4.1 Alternatives to Facebook | 33 |
| 4.2 Alternatives to Gmail | 34 |
| 4.3 Alternatives to Google Drive | 35 |
| 4.4 Alternatives to Google Search | 36 |
| 4.5 Alternatives to YouTube | 36 |
| 4.6 Alternatives to Whatsapp | 37 |
| 4.7 New Team Collaboration Tool | 38 |
| 5. Phase II Conclusion | 39 |
| 5.1 Impact Summary | 41 |
| 5.2 Recommendation | 41 |
| PHASE 3: POLICY DEVELOPMENT | 42 |
| 1. Introduction | 42 |
| 2. Actions | 43 |
| 3. The UnSchool Sustainable Communication Policy | 44 |
| Considerations for other organizations | 44 |
| Bibliography | 46 |



| Why this Report? | 5 |
|---|----|
| Executive Summary | 6 |
| Overview of Phases of Exploration and Development | 6 |
| Introduction to Digital Impacts | 7 |
| PHASE 1: EXTERNAL COMMUNICATION | 9 |
| Introduction | 9 |
| 1. Social Impact | 9 |
| 1.1 Buffer Social Impact | 10 |
| 1.2 Squarespace Social Impact | 10 |
| 1.3 Facebook Social Impact | 11 |
| 1.4 Instagram Social Impact | 12 |
| 1.5 Twitter Social Impact | 13 |
| 1.6 LinkedIn Social Impact | 13 |
| 1.7 Medium Social Impact | 14 |
| 1.8 Thinkific Social Impact | 14 |
| 1.9 YouTube Social Impact | 15 |
| 2. Environmental Impact | 16 |
| 2.1 Buffer Environmental Impact | 17 |
| 2.2 Squarespace Environmental Impact | 17 |
| 2.3 Facebook Environmental Impact | 17 |
| 2.4 Instagram Environmental Impact | 17 |
| 2.5 Twitter Environmental Impact | 17 |
| 2.6 LinkedIn Environmental Impact | 18 |
| 2.7 Medium Environmental Impact | 18 |
| 2.8 Thinkific Environmental Impact | 19 |
| 2.9 YouTube Environmental Impact | 19 |
| 3. Economic Impact | 19 |
| 3.1 Buffer Economic Impact | 20 |
| 3.2 Squarespace Economic Impact | 20 |
| 3.3 Facebook Economic Impact | 21 |
| 3.4 Instagram Economic Impact | 21 |
| 3.5 Twitter Economic Impact | 21 |
| 3.6 LinkedIn Economic Impact | 22 |
| 3.7 Medium Economic Impact | 22 |
| 3.8 Thinkific Economic Impact | 23 |
| 3.9 YouTube Economic Impact | 23 |
| 4.1 Impact Summary | 24 |



| 4.2 Recommendations | |
|--|----|
| PHASE 2: INTERNAL COMMUNICATION | 27 |
| Introduction | 27 |
| 1. Social Impact | |
| 1.1 Google Social Impact | 27 |
| 1.2 Whatsapp Social Impact | 29 |
| 1.3 Canva Social Impact | 30 |
| 2. Environmental Impact | 30 |
| 2.1 Google Environmental Impact | 31 |
| 2.2 Whatsapp Environmental Impact | 31 |
| 2.3 Canva Environmental Impact | 31 |
| 3. Economic Impact | 31 |
| 2.1 Google Economic Impact | 31 |
| 2.2 Whatsapp Economic Impact | 32 |
| 2.3 Canva Economic Impact | 32 |
| 4. Alternative Tools | 33 |
| 4.1 Alternatives to Facebook | 33 |
| 4.2 Alternatives to Gmail | 34 |
| 4.3 Alternatives to Google Drive | 35 |
| 4.4 Alternatives to Google Search | 36 |
| 4.5 Alternatives to YouTube | 36 |
| 4.6 Alternatives to Whatsapp | 37 |
| 4.7 New Team Collaboration Tool | 38 |
| 5. Phase II Conclusion | 39 |
| 5.1 Impact Summary | 41 |
| 5.2 Recommendation | 41 |
| PHASE 3: POLICY DEVELOPMENT | 42 |
| 1. Introduction | 42 |
| 2. Actions | 43 |
| 3. The UnSchool Sustainable Communication Policy | 44 |
| Considerations for other organizations | 44 |
| Bibliography | 46 |



Why this Report?

This report came about as a result of a long-standing set of questions that I have had about how to do ethical marketing and better understand the impacts of our digital communications. As the founder of the UnSchool, I am committed to uncovering the impacts of our actions and then developing new ways of building positive change. The author of this report, Laura Secorun, was invited to support us in developing an ethical and sustainable communications plan, and to get started, she proposed an exploration of the social, economic and environmental impacts of our outward communications. I was excited to get some perspective shifts on the ramifications of the choices that we, as a small organization, make in communicating with our community.

As you will find in these pages, the internet and the services we are now all relying on to communicate, market and connect are all implicated in the global sustainability challenges that we collectively face. Conducting a digital footprint assessment has helped us rethink the way we do business and engage with our community, as well as reconsider what platforms we invest in as a socially-minded organization interested in affecting change by design.

As soon as Laura provided us with the audit of our external communication tools, the team and I immediately wanted to know what this was like for our internal communication approaches as well. The tools we use daily to support a distributed team and conduct general operations also have implications that we were eager to learn more about. Gaining all these new insights ignited the development of a new Sustainable Communications Policy.

One of the key things that Laura shared with us early on that has stuck with me is that the internet is physical. What appears on face value to be ethereal is not; each word I type connects to a server, which is hosted in a warehouse, which is being powered by energy mined from the planet. Each video we upload or watch draws down data that follows real-world pathways before it eventually ends up magically on my device. The tweets, emails, posts and searches all have impacts, just as our consumption and lifestyle choices do too.

This report is a snapshot of one small organization's digital impacts. It explores our outward and inward communication platforms, enabling us to make a more informed set of choices around how we do what we do, to reduce our impacts and to increase our agency over the kinds of companies we want to invest in. There is, of course, much more to explore, and over time we hope to expand our knowledge and understanding of the impact of our digital actions.

I hope this report informs and supports you, too, in reflecting on your digital footprint, both personally and professionally, and enables other organizations to start this important conversation around the impacts of our digital actions.

Leyla Acaroglu, founder The UnSchool, October 2019



Executive Summary

This report focused on investigating the impacts of the UnSchool's communication strategies, specifically, in Phase I, investigating the tools that the company uses to interact with its audience online -- from its website to social media. In Phase II, the tools used internally to communicate and conduct work via remote working were assessed for productivity, feasibility and sustainability. In Phase III, the founder of the company synthesized and developed a sustainable communications policy built off the investigation conducted to inform the next steps in achieving the goal of a sustainable, ethical and effective communication and productivity strategy.

Methods Used

This research project used the <u>Disruptive Design Method</u> as its blueprint. Phases I and II began with *Mining* — to unearth all key elements in the sustainable communications challenge — and then *Landscaping* — to connect these components and put parts into practice through recommendations. These enabled Phase III: *Building* a sustainable solution, informed by all this new knowledge.

The data sources for this research were largely public, including numerous academic papers, expert essays, and media reports. Other details were gathered from the companies' own websites and investor presentations. There were, however, certain instances where the researcher had to contact customer representatives directly in order to answer technical questions.

Overview of Phases of Exploration and Development

Phase I: External Communication Strategy

We looked into three different categories of impact: Social — effects on society and personal health (including mental), safety and agency of the community; Environmental — effects on air, water, land, biodiversity and climate; and Economic — effects on cost, scalability, financial autonomy and return on investment.

What we found was that the UnSchool's digital communication strategy is generally sustainable, especially when it comes to its carbon footprint. Yet there is still room for improvement, especially when it comes to minimizing social impact through the platforms that are selected and utilized as part of their communication eco system and developing more economically sustainable strategies in order to not overwhelm their small and dynamic team.

The outcomes of Phase I include a comprehensive assessment of the impacts of all platforms being currently used by the UnSchool for external communications, as well as a set of recommendations on how to reduce the organization's digital footprint and ideate new, more sustainable practices.

There is, however, not always a definite best practice. Digital communication is a highly complex arena, so certainly many of these choices will require trade offs, often between different aspects of sustainability.



Phase II: International Communication Strategy

In this section, we considered the impacts the UnSchool's internal communications strategy. To that end, we analyzed the social, environmental and economic effects of tools that the UnSchool team uses to manage day-to-day operations, collaborate on projects and generate some of the materials which will then be shared publicly.

As in Phase I, the outcome of this research was a thorough assessment of each tool's major impacts and a series of recommendations for how to lessen those negative consequences going forward. For that purpose, we also provided a list of vetted alternatives to the least sustainable tools identified in Phases I and II of the report.

The UnSchool now possesses the necessary information to move into Phase III and develop policies that will bring its communication strategy in alignment with the principles it teaches, as much as it is possible.

Phase III: Policy Development

As a result of the research conducted and the recommendations presented, the founder of the UnSchool, Dr. Leyla Acaroglu responded with the development of a new Digital Communications Policy to support the adoption of better practices.

Introduction to Digital Impacts

The last decade has witnessed the explosion of digital communication technology. Today, half of the global population — 3.9 billion people (International Telecommunication Union, 2019) — uses the internet, and the number of networked devices is expected to reach three times (Cisco, 2019) the global population by 2022.

This growth comes with incredible opportunity (Global e-Sustainability Initiative, 2019), but also with serious impacts, as the Internet is made up of interconnected physical structures consuming vast amounts of natural resources. The internet is very much a physical thing, yet most people engaging with it assume it is entirely 'digital'. Whenever we visit a website, binge Netflix or share a tweet, information must transfer from one physical server to another physical device. This transfer uses energy, which in today's world means burning fossil fuels, mining resources and ultimately contributing to unsustainable resource use.

These vast decentralized networks of servers are also controlled by governments (Koch, 2019) and private companies, many of which have unprecedented control (Kari, 2019) over the market whose choice of privacy policies or algorithmic preferences have the potential to affect people and elections (Meyer-Resende, 2018) around the world.

Unlike powerful companies of the past who controlled the supply of physical resources, these digital behemoths are deeply intimate with their users, gaining insights, access and power over their



preferences, opinions and behaviors.

As social creatures (Bernhard, 2010), we use these often addictive sites to communicate with our community in ways that can affect our psychological state and overall well-being. This is becoming more and more evident as research into not only the physical and mental health impacts of 'screen time' increases, but also the understanding of the dark patterning (Brignull 2019) techniques used by digital designers.

But it is also vital that in this age of ever-increasing digitization, along with social media marketing and a competition for attention, that enterprises understand the impact of their digital actions.

Trying to operate responsibly in this ever-changing landscape can be very difficult. And socially-motivated organizations seeking to engage with their community and operate sustainably online are just as baffled by the shifts in digital communications as the average person wanting to connect with their friends and family.

This report attempts to facilitate this decision making by providing a set of comprehensive insights on the impacts of this industry and researched-backed recommendations on how to reduce them. Just as we check to see our carbon footprints, or adjust our purchasing practices to ensure that unethical labor markets are not be supported, we too now must know and adjust actions based on the impact of our digital footprints.

This report explores the impact of both external communication platforms and internal communication and business management platforms for a small, socially-motivated enterprise set and run by Disrupt Design: The UnSchool of Disruptive Design. It is intended to serve as a case study of the impacts of marketing actions for a socially and environmentally-motivated organization.

The questions explored herein are: What are the social, environmental and economic impacts of the UnSchool's digital communication strategies, and how can conscious and considered actions be taken to reduce these?

The method used to explore these questions is the Disruptive Design Method (DDM), developed by Leyla Acaroglu, along with academic-style research to substantiate our arguments and investigative reporting techniques to help verify company claims.

Following the DDM structure, Phase I will consist largely of Mining to help us gain clarity on the problem of sustainability and digital communications. The scope of our research will be the platforms that the UnSchool uses to communicate externally.

In Phase II, we will enter the Landscaping stage, connecting components and putting these parts into practice as well as broadening our research to include the tools that the UnSchool uses to communicate internally. For more details, go to section 4.2.

Finally, in Phase III, we begin Building a solution through the development of a comprehensive, sustainable communication strategy and a set of policies.



PHASE 1: EXTERNAL COMMUNICATION

Introduction

Since sustainability is all about working to harmonize the social, economic and environmental impacts of our individual and collective actions, the considerations of these three aspects of business in relation to the social and general communication platforms used by an organization interested in affecting positive change is vital.

Platforms Currently Used

The UnSchool currently uses the following platforms to communicate with its current and potential community: Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, Linkedin, Buffer, Thinkific, Medium and Squarespace.

1. Social Impact

In this section, we are going to explore the social impact of digital communication tools used to connect with our community and engage with potential customers in the form of social media marketing. To clarify, the term "social" in this content both means social media, the platforms we use to connect such as Facebook, Twitter, Instagram and LinkedIn, and also "social" as in the ways in which these companies affect the health (physical and mental), safety (including privacy) and agency of the people who both use them and are engaged with the day-to-day business operations of these social media companies. At this point, it is useful to distinguish between what could be called "internal" and "external" impact.

By "internal," we will be referring to the impact these platforms have on their own employees or contractors. Through "external," we will examine how their actions affect society at large, from their clients to their country's political system.

As a whole, the online communications industry has had a good track record of employee care and appears to be actively working to remedy its racial and gender imbalance. Since 2014, the percentage of Facebook's female workers has increased from 31% to 37 % and that of non-white employees have gone from 43% to 56% (Facebook, 2019). That said, content moderators are often contractors who suffer from much worse working conditions, as we will see.

The most worrisome social impacts of digital communications belong to the "external" category. For one, these platforms may be generating addiction and negatively affecting the mental health of millions. Privacy rights violations are also a major concern as is their effect on democracy (Walther,

¹ Silicon Valley companies operate around the world but their headquarters often lack diversity. 60% of women working in tech say they have experienced unwanted sexual advances (The Elephant in the Valley, 2019.) Only 2.6% of the Silicon Valley labor force is African-American and 6.4% Hispanic (compared to the all industry average of 14.5% and 13.8% respectively) (Holman, 2019). Asians are the largest racial cohort of professionals in the Valley and despite outnumbering white men and women in entry-level positions, yet are the least likely among all races to get management and executive roles - particularly Asian women (Gee, 2015).



2014).

In the aggregate, these effects appear highly mixed --- while some claim social media increases depression and loneliness (Hunt, 2018), other studies show no effects (Huang, 2017). Some even indicate using these platforms (alongside other information and communication technologies) may help decrease psychological distress over time (Hampton, 2019).

The issue of polarization isn't clear-cut either. While some fear the effects of "social media bubbles" (Himelboim, 2013) on democracy, others show their impact is minimal (Flaxman, 2016) (Boxell, 2017). This is why it's important to be very specific about which platforms are being used in which context.

1.1 Buffer Social Impact

Buffer² has a strong track record of employee care offering strong benefits and flexibility (Glassdoor, 2019). Their team could be more diverse — 76% are white — but they are highly transparent about this shortcoming, and 62.5% of the company's leadership is female (Buffer, 2019). They have complete transparency about their salary structure (Buffer, 2019).

Externally, Buffer appears to have no significant negative impacts, besides indirectly facilitating the use of other social media companies who could themselves have unsustainable practices. Overall, the company may even have a positive effect, sharing all their code on open source for others to use, as well as offering all of their services at a 50% discount to nonprofit organizations (Buffer, 2019).

1.2 Squarespace Social Impact

Squarespace³ has a stellar reputation for employee welfare. While they are not forthcoming about diversity, 88% (Great Place to Work, 2019) of employees say it is a great place to work. Besides a comprehensive healthcare plan and vacation policy, the company matches any donations their employees make to a non profit of their choice — times two. (Squarespace, 2019)

In terms of external impacts, Squarespace powers the websites of thousands of small businesses, but, after the 2017 rally in Charlottesville, it came under scrutiny (Vocativ, 2017) for hosting the sites of several infamous white nationalists. The company took two months to bring those pages down after being prompted but publicly apologized. Its Acceptable Use Policy (section 6.2) forbids users to "advocate bigotry or hatred against any person or group based on their race, ethnicity, nationality, religion, gender, gender identity, sexual preference, age or disability" (Squarespace, 2019).

.

² The UnSchool uses Buffer for scheduling its social media posts and tracking marketing analytics.

³ The UnSchool uses Squarespace to host its website and send its newsletter.



1.3 Facebook Social Impact

Facebook has a staggering 1.5 billion (Facebook, 2019) daily active users, so their social impacts, whether positive or negative, tend to be vast.

The company has long been rated as one of the top tech companies to work for in the US (Dickey, 2018). Facebook provides great medical insurance and four-month paid leave for parents, plus lavishes employees with perks — including sabbaticals, time to volunteer and reimbursement for activities like yoga. (Facebook Careers, 2019)

Moderators

But the company also employs thousands of external content moderators, often sub-contracted in developing nations. And working conditions of these employees are starkly worse (Dwoskin, 2018) than those in the main office. An investigation by The Verge (2019) revealed that they get paid less than a tenth of an average employee's salary and are exposed to extremely traumatic imagery, with little to no psychological support. This results in high rates of PTSD, depression, addiction and suicidal thoughts among moderators (The Cleaners, 2019).

After months of public pressure, the company has finally addressed the issue and promised to make important changes (Sullivan, 2019): raising salaries and rolling out software to make the imagery less shocking (blurring faces or changing to black and white). In the meantime, the company continues to ramp up the number of moderators it uses.

Hate Speech

Their need for extra moderation comes from what's likely Facebook's most negative external impact to date: enhancing violence in Myanmar, which 700,000 Muslim Rohyinga (UN, 2018) have already fled to avoid what the United Nations has declared a "textbook example of ethnic cleansing" (UN, 2018). Marzuki Darusman, chairman of the U.N. Independent International Fact-Finding Mission on Myanmar said Facebook played a "determining role" in spreading misinformation and hate speech that led to violence (Miles, 2018).

A more recent investigation by Reuters (2018) lays out the many difficulties the company is still having to stop hate speech in the country.

Concerns about the spread of "fake news" also plagued Facebook during the most recent US election and Brexit votes, coupled with accusations of failure to protect user data from third parties trying to manipulate the electorate. Researchers estimate that Facebook advertising may have increased Trump voter turnout by 10% (Redoano, 2018), and other academics point out that Facebook's algorithm (designed to maximize platform usage) tends to fragment opinion and increase polarization (Sîrbu, 2019). This algorithmic trait may have been most successfully leveraged by the alt-right movement (Daniels, 2018).

Fundamentally, most criticisms about Facebook targeting come down to privacy violations. The



company sells user data to third parties, which makes it a prime tool for any actors trying to modify user behavior — from an innocent local bakery to an enemy state. Cambridge Analytica (CA) used the platform to harvest data on millions (Lapowski, 2018) of unwitting users and, when the Federal Trade Commission (FTC) investigated the issue, data practices uncovered in the company had repeatedly violated a 2012 order barring Facebook from deceiving users about its privacy practices as well as "a new set of deceptive practices" (Wong, 2019). The company paid a fine of \$5 billion and took down the specific API (Constine, 2015) that CA used, but little else has changed as selling data to third parties is still its main source of revenue (Facebook, 2019).

Addiction

Facebook was designed to be addictive, as acknowledged by various former employees (Sloane, 2017) (Solon, 2018). The company leverages the socially-anxious nature of our brains (Gilbert, 2001) and the tools of gamification to create a highly engaging digital environment. Studies show that those who are addicted to the platform have lowered ability to delay rewards (Delaney, 2007) and make choices as impaired as drug addicts (Meshi, 2019).

Facebook claims to be trying to limit these addictive effects by rolling out a tracking and blocking feature (Ranadive, 2018).

1.4 Instagram Social Impact

Instagram has been owned by Facebook since 2012, so their employee policy is the same, with good pay, holistic healthcare and generous vacation time. The company too uses moderators to fact check the content (Harrison, 2019). Their work conditions are similar to those of their parent site. However, so far Instagram requires less moderators because Facebook is teaching AI how to identify offensive visual content (Tangerman, 2018), and, because of the nature of the platform, they are often less exposed to deeply violent and disturbing content.

That said, Instagram is increasingly being targeted for political aims and could, in the near future, suffer from similar uncivic impacts as Facebook. A report from the US Senate Intelligence Committee concluded that Instagram was just as an effective platform as Facebook for the disinformation campaign run by Russia's Internet Research Agency during the 2016 election (DiResta, 2018).

For now, one of the known social impacts of Instagram could be its effects on body satisfaction, particularly when it comes to young women. Instagram has been shown to negatively affect young women's beliefs about their appearance (Fardoluy, 2017), especially in those with already low self-esteem (Ahadzadeh, 2016), and it has also been linked to increased symptoms of anorexia (Turner, 2017).

These effects appear to occur mostly when looking at health and fitness imagery, which is not precisely the content that is shared by UnSchool. The company is also now allowing users to track their time on the app (Ranadive, 2018) and running a pilot in seven countries in which the number of post likes are hidden (Fitzgerald, 2019). What's more, image-based platforms such as Instagram have



been shown to help decrease self-reported loneliness in users, whereas more text-based platforms like Twitter do not (Pittman M, 2016).

1.5 Twitter Social Impact

Twitter appears to be a healthy work environment (Glassdoor, 2019), as employees in its headquarters enjoy a whole suite of benefits from medical and dental coverage, 401(k) savings plans to flexible vacation policies and in-office pilates. It is one of the most racially, gender and LGBTQ diverse companies in Silicon Valley, with a perfect score on their Human Rights Campaign Corporate Equality Index (HRC, 2019), and employee groups are given the resources to design their own advocacy initiatives on behalf of their communities. They were also the first corporate impact champion for the UN's global gender equality initiative (HeforShe, 2019).

But Twitter too has an issue with underpaid moderators. One of them spoke to the Washington Post (2019), saying, "At the end of a shift, my mind is so exhausted that I can't even think," adding he dreamed about being the victim of a suicide bombing or a car accident, his brain recycling images that he saw at work. Unlike Facebook, the company has not issued public statements about how they will improve this.

When it comes to individual use, there is scarce evidence of any negative effects on mental health, and in fact, Twitter appears to be useful in getting support (Shepherd, 2015) and combating stigma about these issues (Berry, 2017).

Another differentiating feature from similar social media platforms is that Twitter has a good track record of protecting users' data, and it only provides advertisers with publicly available information (Twitter, 2019). Also, through their account settings, they give users an easy way to control how much data the company can collect from them.

Regarding political manipulation and fake news, Twitter appears to have a much more localized effect than Facebook. A study (Grinberg, 2019) found fake news accounted for nearly six percent of all news consumption during the months before the 2016 election, but it was heavily concentrated — only one percent of users were exposed to 80% of fake news, and 0.1% of users were responsible for sharing 80% of fake news. Still, bots are rampant on the platform (Hindman, 2018) and it's algorithm is — as all other social media sites — designed to maximize engagement (Lanier, 2018), which means it may also lead to increased opinion polarization (Sîrbu, 2019).

1.6 LinkedIn Social Impact

LinkedIn has been the property of Microsoft since 2016, but unlike Instagram and Facebook, it continues to operate largely independently from its owner. Their employees policies are exemplary with comprehensive healthcare, long vacations, child care subsidies and other benefits, like in-house drycleaning and car wash (LinkedIn Careers, 2019). It was recognized as one one of the world's "Most ethical companies" of 2019 by the Ethisphere Institute, alongside its parent company, Microsoft (Ethisphere, 2019).



In 2018, LinkedIn admitted that it was using the email addresses of non-members — about 18 million of them — in a way that was not "transparent" (Lunden, 2018) but has since stopped the practice and implemented a robust and transparent privacy policy (LinkedIn, 2019). Most of its revenue comes from "talent solutions" (recruitment services) (Investopedia, 2018), which means the company is less encouraged to mine and sell private information about its users. When it comes to "fake news", the site has hardly any. Since the goal of the platform is professional advancement, there is less proliferation of ideological propaganda or divisive political content (Lanier, 2018) and moderation is rarely needed (Johnson, 2016).

1.7 Medium Social Impact

Medium appears to take good care of its employees, and most Glassdoor reviews agree it is a highly diverse and rewarding place to work (Glassdoor 2019). Beyond comprehensive health insurance, 401(k), paid time off, and lunch every day, the company offers its California-based team a generous education budget for each employee and onsite mindfulness options like meditation, yoga, and a gym membership reimbursement (Medium Jobs, 2019).

Because the platform is advertising-free, it does not participate in any of the most commonly socially disruptive practices of other online publishing tools. They do need to please marketers or promote sponsored content, which means their interface is not designed to generate addiction and users are not allowed to pay for reach — making it a more level playing field to share ideas in. The membership model prioritizes quality over quantity, which also keeps most clickbait and fake news at bay.

What's more, the platform gives readers ability to follow their favorite topics, writers, and publications so they are in control of their digital experience — unlike others (like YouTube) where it's largely AI that dictates what users see.

Finally, Medium has a solid track record of standing up to censorship. The governments of several states have asked the platform to take down content, and it has always refused, unless given proof the content was false (Medium, 2016). Since 2016. the site is banned in mainland China after publishing information from the leaked Panama papers (Milward 2016) and, in 2017, Egypt also blocked the site (Al Jazeera 2017).

1.8 Thinkific Social Impact

The Vancouver-based company⁴ has less than 100 employees, 51% of whom are female (Thinkific, 2019). Reviews on Glassdoor praise the company's work culture, and the startup offers a strong package of benefits including comprehensive extensive medical care as well an open vacation policy, flexible work hours and funding for self education (GlassDoor, 2019).

_

⁴ The UnSchool uses Thinktific as the platform to host and run its online courses



1.9 YouTube Social Impact

YouTube has over 2 billion monthly users who, each day, watch over a billion hours of video and generate billions of views (YouTube, 2019). It's this powerful reach that makes the platform's problems so impactful.

Above all, YouTube appears to have a serious extremism problem (Roose, 2019). For years, the platform's algorithm sought to gain engagement and, in the process, experts claim executives ignored the subsequent rise in videos pedalling conspiracy theories and views (Bergen, 2019).

In 2017, journalists first flagged Hezbollah was using the platform to monetize videos promoting terrorism, which the algorithm was pairing with ads for low-cost drones (Orlowski, 2017). Soon, the same Artificial Intelligence (AI) was found pairing Al-Shabab videos about jihad in Kenya with promotions for Sandals resorts (Mostrous, 2017). This was followed by the platform's most popular YouTuber sharing a video where he satirically paid two young men to hold signs that said "Death to All Jews" (IBTimes, 2017).

This string of similar revelations led to the mass exodus of advertisers from the platform (Dunphy 2017). Fearing the reputational risk of having their content paired up with videos that contained hate speech or violent extremist content, companies like Coca-Cola, AT&T and Verizon cut ties (Scatt, 2017). After this breach of trust, YouTube has been trying to appease advertisers by making its AI avoid most controversial videos, including such broad terms as "sensitive social issues" or "tragedy and conflict." This policy, in turn, has been criticized by creators (Goggin 2019) who may have their content demonized without explanation and find it hard to appeal (Kain 2017).

YouTube has promised to do better by redirecting any searches for extremist content towards debunk videos (Welch 2017), having a stronger hate speech policy (Martineau 2019) and recommending less videos containing misinformation or, as the platform calls them, "borderline content" (Newton 2019). Still, the platform is rife with neo-nazi and extremist progapanda, which YouTube has demonitized but not deleted (Makush 2019). Overall, its engagement-maximizing Al is still based on how much attention creators gather (ie: minutes of watch) and therefore incentivizes the production of videos designed to outrage viewers (Newton, 2019).

YouTube's other largest social impact may be the way it has violated the rights of minors. Google LLC and its subsidiary YouTube, will pay a record \$170 million to settle allegations by the Federal Trade Commission that the YouTube video sharing service illegally collected personal information from children without their parents' consent (FCT, 2019). The Center for Digital Democracy says that Google then used this illegally gathered information to target advertisements to children across the internet and across devices (Shepardson 2019).

The platform has promised to do better by children by removing all comments from videos featuring minors and lowering their access to monetization if deemed "at risk of predatory comments" (YouTube Help, 2019). The site is also offering more control tools for parents — only a third of



whom check the keywords their children are searching and the platform (Buzzi 2012). Meanwhile, YouTube continues to be filled with highly-disturbing videos (Orphanides 2018) aimed precisely at minors by so-called content farms and for the only purpose of making money (Bridle 2018).

2. Environmental Impact

Global greenhouse gas emissions show no signs of peaking, and UNEP claims that, unless countries take stronger measures before 2030, exceeding the 1.5oC goal is unavoidable (UN Environment, 2018). Given the meteoric growth of the Communication Information (CI) sector -- with 2.5 billion more people estimated to be connected to ICT services by 2030 -- many fear CI could quickly become a major GHGE emitter (GeSI, 2019).

Research suggests that, at the current rate, the industry (which is much larger than just Internet services) will be responsible for 14% of the worldwide GHGE by 2040 — about half of the current contribution of the transportation sector (Belkhir, 2018). Others claim the worst case scenario would see the ICT sector contributing up to 23% of the total greenhouse gas emissions by 2030 (Andrae, 2015). The current contribution is estimated at two percent, equivalent to the aviation industry (GeSI 2019).

Yet other studies claim this worst case scenario is highly unlikely. Recent research appears to show that the Internet's carbon footprint has already begun to shrink (Malmodin, 2018), largely thanks to advances in server efficiency and renewable power. What's more, according to the Global e-Sustainability Initiative (GeSI), ICT innovation could lead to emission reductions five times the size of the sector's own footprint, up to 15% or 20% of all otherwise expected emissions by 2020 (GeSI 2019).

Calculating the carbon footprint of each individual action online is immensely difficult (Barker, 2011) and so context-dependent that there is no scientifically proven, one-size-fits-all number. The impact depends on the type of content, the platform chosen, the efficiency of the network and servers and the type of energy used to power them, be it fossil fuels, nuclear or renewable. That is why it's useful to look specifically at the practices of each company involved.

That said, electricity use is not the only impact the ICT industry has on the environment. The carbon generated from materials and manufacture is about one quarter of the overall ICT footprint (GeSI, 2008). Laptops have strong initial footprints - although it depends on the manufacturer, a 13 inch MacBook Air produces 176kg of carbon emissions (Apple, 2019) while the emissions for a similar DELL computer is 286 kg (Dell, 2019) — comparable to driving 701 miles in a passenger car. And new gear is not necessarily becoming less carbon intensive.

By 2020, the ecological footprint of smartphones alone would surpass the individual contribution of desktops, laptops and displays (Belkhir, 2018). Despite being smaller than a PC, smartphones have a shorter life cycle than other devices. Mining the rare materials inside a new smartphone represents about 90% of the device's total CO2 emissions, which adds up to as much as recharging and operating a smartphone for an entire decade (Belkhir, 2018).



2.1 Buffer Environmental Impact

The company has no physical office, and they claim it lowers their environmental footprint. Most importantly, Buffer servers are running from Virginia and Oregon in the US; these are Amazon Web Services servers, which are highly energy efficient and over half are powered by renewables. They are committed to getting to 100% across all their global infrastructure and are currently building four new wind farms and one new solar farm (Amazon, 2019).

2.2 Squarespace Environmental Impact

Squarespace's server set-up makes it so that the UnSchool site is close to carbon neutral. The company has designed their own highly efficient data centers and try to buy 100% renewable energy and, when they can't avoid emitting CO2, they purchase carbon offsets (Squarespace, 2019).

As for the newsletter, the carbon footprint of an e-mail is estimated at 4 grams of CO2 equivalent (Melvin, 2015). So the carbon output of one smap email is like driving one meter in a car (McAfee, 2009), but this, again, may change according to providers. Beyond Squarespace, the actual number changes according to which device and service the end users use to open and manage it: laptops use more energy than mobile phones (Samovat, 2011) and keeping emails on one's inbox requires energy from the hosting serves, while erasing them stops this.

2.3 Facebook Environmental Impact

Facebook has a highly ambitious and transparent sustainability policy, and 75% of the energy used by the company is renewable (Facebook Sustainability, 2019). It also builds its own sustainable, state-of-the-art data centers. Their servers are 100% renewable energy and are 80% more water efficient than average data centers. They are LEED® Gold level certified by the Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (Facebook Sustainability, 2019).

Last year, the company released 339,000 metric tons of CO2, which when divided by its over a billion and a half daily users (Facebook, 2019), puts the annual carbon footprint of one user at less than half that of making a cup of coffee (Facebook Sustainability, 2019).

2.4 Instagram Environmental Impact

As property of Facebook — the self-proclaimed largest corporate purchaser of renewable energy in the world (Facebook Sustainability, 2019) — Instagram operates in the same way in terms of environmental practices.

2.5 Twitter Environmental Impact



Given that the platform is mostly short text, its total emissions are likely always going to be smaller than those of visual apps. The only "official numbers" given by the company were shared during a conference by a Twitter developer who calculated each tweet generates 0.02 grams of CO2 emissions (Shwartz, 2010). That means Twitter's carbon footprint is relatively low – the 50 million tweets sent out daily (Twitter, 2014) emit just one metric ton of CO2. That is less than a tenth of the yearly average CO2 emissions of a single American person (World Bank, 2014).

Yet Twitter is stubbornly opaque about their environmental policies and actual emissions. According to research by Greenpeace, the company does not engage in any environmental advocacy or active mitigation. It buys only 10% of its energy from renewables, and most comes from natural gas (43%) and nuclear (13%) (Greenpeace, 2017).

That said, their headquarters are trying to improve waste management, using 40% local products within 150 miles of their offices and using plant-based protein whenever possible (Indeed, 2019).

2.6 LinkedIn Environmental Impact

LinkedIn has not built their own servers (Dix, 2017), and only 10% of their energy appears to come from renewables. But Greenpeace (2017) claims they are transparent about their energy consumption and are actively trying to lower their emissions. The parent platform is also mostly text so it takes a smaller toll. Their parent company, Microsoft, has carbon neutral in its operations since 2012 (Microsoft, 2019) and is on track to reduce emissions by 75% by 2030, thanks largely to a company wide carbon fee system (DiCaprio, 2013) — including data centers, offices, labs, manufacturing, and business air travel. The money in the fee fund is reinvested in carbon neutrality initiatives.

2.7 Medium Environmental Impact

Medium consists largely of text content, which already makes it less energy intensive than visual-based platforms. And since their recommendation algorithm is not "obsessed with the new", as their CEO puts it (Williams 2012), the content has a longer shelf life, which means we users can stay relevant in the platform without having to publish constantly. This too can lead to lower energy expenditure.

Lastly, Medium uses Amazon Web Services⁵ servers, which are highly energy efficient and powered mostly by renewable energies (AWS 2019).

⁵ Amazon Web Services are the company's cloud computing services and one of the internet's most popular "backend" services for websites. This means the sites and platforms run on Amazon servers instead of having their own. Since 2018, over 50% of AWS are currently powered by renewables and the service aims to reach 100% carbon neutrality across all their global infrastructure. It owns five solar farms already running in Virginia and are building three new wind ones — one in Ireland, one in Sweden, and one in the United States. (AWS 2019) That said, Greenpeace has accused AWS of not being transparent about their data (Greenpeace, 2017)



2.8 Thinkific Environmental Impact

Thinkific hosts more video content but also uses Amazon Web Services servers. Check footnote 5 for details.

2.9 YouTube Environmental Impact

Video streaming is a huge driver of data demand and it is projected to grow to more than 82 percent of all consumer Internet traffic by 2022 (Cisco, 2017). This has the potential to generate an increase in greenhouse emissions but, unlike Netflix, YouTube's servers are largely carbon neutral — only 29% of their power comes from burning fossil fuels (GreenPeace, 2017). That said, the platform continues to utilize user design tactics that maximize engagement at the detriment of the environment (Kobie, 2019), such as the "autoplay" button, which keeps videos playing automatically, even when the user is away from the screen.

3. Economic Impact

This section will be looking at impacts on cost, scalability, financial autonomy and return on investment. It is essential for any business to be able to reach its audience where it is. And given that on average, most internet-connected humans spend 2 hours and 20 minutes a day on social media (Global Web Index, 2019), the need to use such platforms appears obvious. That said, just because these platforms are free does not mean they do not have costs associated with them.

While they may be cheaper than traditional forms of marketing, social media is not necessarily more effective since measuring the ROI of investing in it is challenging. It is simple, thanks to tools like Facebook Pixel, to measure the ROI of a specific post or paid campaign directed at the UnSchool's followers. But it is significantly more difficult to quantify whether all the time spent posting, sharing and commenting needed to gain those followers in the first place is worth what's invested.

What's more, since these platforms are designed to be addictive (Sini, 2017), they trigger our dopamine feedback-loops and activate our emotional circuitry in a way that can impair our working memory (Mather, 2006). Notifications often lead to multi-tasking (also known as "the pinball effect"), which impairs our ability for deep focus (Ophir, 2009). This means that communicating on these platforms can take a toll on the productivity of the team.

Even if working with these platforms is economically worth it, investing in these companies could be risky in the long term. Vine, at the peak of its popularity, had 200 million active users (Newton, 2016), and thousands of creators had built followings through it. But, when the app died, so did their revenue.

Fundamentally, most digital communication platforms own the connection between companies and



their clients (Lanier, 2018), which means they have leverage to restrict access, spike prices or simply close down without much accountability.

As always, there are significant differences depending on the service provider, which is what we're going to explore in the next section.

3.1 Buffer Economic Impact

In terms of cost, Buffer offers highly competitive prices. What's more, they have full pricing transparency (Buffer, 2019) and share all their finances publicly — as well as all of their code (GitHub, 2019). The company is financially sound and decided to spend half of it assets buying equity back from their investors in order to remain fully independent (Gascoigne, 2018).

The platform does not impose much of a lock-in effect, besides not being able to export more than two months of data at time (for bandwidth issues) (Buffer FAQ, 2019), which may make transitioning data a bit slow.

Most importantly, users have full ownership of the content. The tool can bring major benefits in terms of efficiency and has few risks. In October 2013, Buffer's system was hacked, allowing the hackers to get access to many users' accounts and post spam. The issue was quickly fixed.

3.2 Squarespace Economic Impact

Squarespace is fairly priced compared to other services like Wix or Site123, even if its not fully transparent about costs. The website is a company asset — which means all the content in it is owned by the UnSchool. And, unlike on social media, it is easy to establish calls to action (CTAs) and then track user behavior to see whether a message was successful or not.

Squarespace also allows the management of another crucial asset: the email list. A newsletter, unlike other forms of social media, allows the company to own the connection with the clients. Having both website and e-mail server in the same platform also has the economic benefit of centralizing both tools and analytics and therefore being more efficient for the team. There is no locked-in effect either, as the database of emails could be easily transferred from Squarespace to another service (Support Squarespace, 2019).

What's more, email continues to have one of the highest ROIs in the industry because of how often people interact with it. According to a report by McKinsey (2014), despite companies now devoting more time and money to social media, email remains a more effective way to acquire customers — while, internationally, the average engagement rate on Facebook is 0.9% and on Instagram is 1.6% (RivalIQ 2019), the open rate across industries on e-mail is 22.15% (GetResponse 2019). And while the average click through rate (CTR) of a social media advertisement is 1.9% (Statista 2019), the CTR of an organic e-mail is 3.43% (GetResponse 2019). E-mail can also lead to increased website traffic, unlike platforms like Instagram, designed to keep users in the experience.



3.3 Facebook Economic Impact

Facebook's proposition appears economically unsustainable at various levels. First, the platform operates as a monopsony, controlling the demand (in the form of aggregated human attention), and that gives them unfair power in the advertising market (Martinex, 2019). They also own connections with the client and can easily change companies' ability to access them, forcing them to buy reach.

In fact, they have done so since 2017 when, after convincing companies to amass followers on their official pages, they dropped their reach causing organic reach to decrease by 20% (Influencive, 2019) and engagement by as much as 50% (Zantal-Wiener, 2019). There is currently no policy in place that would prevent the company from engaging in similar behaviour in the future.

Besides the issues of control, Facebook demographics are shifting. While it continues to expand internationally, doubling its user base since 2012 (Statista, 2019), less people are using it in Western countries. In fact, following the Cambridge Analytica data-sharing scandal, Americans, especially young adults between 18 and 29, have significantly cut back the time they spent on Facebook (Pew Research Center, 2018). Being associated with Facebook could even lead to brand damage, if the UnSchool followers share similar concerns.

The company is also in legal hot water. The FTC informed Facebook in June that it is investigating the company for possible antitrust violations (Brandom, 2019) and could potentially force the giant to split, losing Instagram and Whatsapp (Wagner, 2019).

3.4 Instagram Economic Impact

While some are leaving Facebook, Instagram's user base is growing. The breakdown between genders is even; 88% of users live outside the US and 75% of users are under 35 (Hootsuite, 2019). Currently, the platform is gaining popularity, but each visual posts requires a significant amount of input — from photo editing to captioning and finding the right hashtags to use. But for now, the algorithm does appears to not hinder engagement with companies. In fact, a third of the most viewed Stories on the app are created by businesses (Instagram, 2019).

Long term, it has similar issues to Facebook (especially since it's owned by it), with the platform owning the connection with the end user and ability to turn the tap off if it wants to increase advertising revenue.

3.5 Twitter Economic Impact

The number of Twitter users has mostly stagnated at around 330 million (Twitter, 2019) per month, but it is still a deeply cultural relevant medium, with users remembering content 31% more when they discover it on Twitter vs. other internet use (Stenis, 2018). The platform is especially popular with public figures, academics and journalists, most of whom use it largely to read news and network (Pew Research Center, 2018).



The company only began making profit in 2017, but its revenue this year grew by 19% (Twitter, 2019). Their service is largely free. Unlike the previous two, their business organizes that public data in real-time to make it easier for brands, researchers, and organizations to use, but it does not share a direct message or location with advertisers.

Producing content for the platform is not highly time consuming; however, the life of a tweet is brief. 75% of the engagement comes within just 24 minutes of posting and then fades away (four times less than a Facebook post) (Rey, 2014). Users can follow hundreds of accounts, which means that gaining relevance in their feed is difficult.

3.6 LinkedIn Economic Impact

Unlike Twitter, LinkedIn is growing fast — gaining 123 million users in two years (LinkedIn Statistics, 2019). 50% of Americans with a college degree use LinkedIn (Smith, 2018), and 94% of B2B marketers use it to distribute content (LinkedIn, 2017).

Over 2 million posts are shared on LinkedIn each day (Roth, 2018), and, unlike Facebook or Instagram, who prioritize personal connection over business, LinkedIn's algorithm works to amplify professional brands who publish research, news items, and new ideas on the site (Sehl, 2019).

3.7 Medium Economic Impact

Medium is a free platform, although in order to access all their stories as well as curated daily selections and audio versions, users can get a premium membership for \$50 a year. Its import tool makes it very easy to bring and format content from other platforms, which helps maximize the ROI of each new piece of content (Medium, 2019).

Medium's largest economic advantage is that it already has a built-in audience. The site currently has 90 million unique users each month (Edwards, 2018). 75% of its audience is international, and it publishes 20,000 articles per day (Alexa, 2019). Highly popular stories get featured on the site and app, which also allows brands to instantly connect with readers who already follow them on Twitter and Facebook. Last but not least, Medium is already a site of reference on subjects like business, life learning, innovation and entrepreneurship — which fits well with the UnSchool's psychographic.

Since user engagement is not dictated by a secretive algorithm and there is less spam on the platform, the readership metrics tend to be more reliable (no bots, paid promotions etc.) Medium allows publishers to know not just who sees and likes ("claps") their stories but how many of them read until the end (Medium Help Center, 2019).

Despite all the aforementioned benefits, Medium's economic future is uncertain. The company is nearly seven years old and raised \$132 million in venture funding (Crunchbase, 2019), yet it is still not profitable (Edwards, 2018). The startup has tried a variety of business models (Hazard, 2019), from advertising to paywalls, often changing strategies abruptly and leaving big publishers in shock



(Wang, 2018).

It's unlikely that the company will close doors soon since its founder is a billionaire and Twitter cofounder Ev Williams (Forbes, 2019). Still, he is currently trying to raise even more money to stay afloat.

3.8 Thinkific Economic Impact

Thinkific is an economically sustainable option. Its pricing is more affordable than many other players in the industry (Software Advice, 2019) and, unlike some of them, the platform takes no transaction fees from the courses sold in it. It also includes a comprehensive list of features from drag and drop course design to student support. The company appears to be on sound economic ground with an estimated 2 million dollars in annual revenue (Crunchbase, 2019) and 40,000+ course creators (Thinkific, 2019).

3.9 YouTube Economic Impact

YouTube is owned by Google and its parent company, Alphabet, so please refer to section 2.1 in Phase II of this report for information on the company's economic impact.

4. Phase I Conclusion

As previously mentioned, the impacts of digital communications are complex and moderated by a wide variety of factors, not all of which have been explored in this current report. That said, here are the main conclusions so far:

Socially, the major impacts will likely come from supporting platforms whose algorithms maximize engagement at the cost of users' mental health and their right to privacy, particularly when that information is being shared with unknown third parties.

Environmentally, most of the carbon emissions are likely to come from the devices used to post, rather than the posts themselves. It is important to make conscious decisions about what type of content we post and the methods of sharing to reduce the per-unit impact of communications, yet the footprint of content is highly context-dependent. So when it comes to minimizing the digital output, the most effective action is likely to be choosing green servers and supporting companies that are actively trying to design for carbon neutrality.

Economically, the major negative impact is fueling monopsonies whose increasing power makes them more likely to take advantage of users and get away with other externalities. Since the ROI of social media marketing can be difficult to accurately calculate, efforts should be made to keep the engagement to what is most indispensable and ensure the team's productivity does not suffer from engaging with it.

Interestingly, this report highlights the potential tension between the three different "focuses" of



sustainability. For example, small companies tend to have a better track record of employee care, but their servers can often be inefficient and they need to buy cheaper energy. However, giants like Facebook and Amazon may have a more problematic social impact but are using mostly clean energy to fuel their operations.

Overall, it appears that the carbon footprint of a single post or photo is so small compared to that of the devices used to post them. So the most impactful choice a company like the UnSchool can make is to use the most sustainable service providers and develop an internal code to navigate the smaller, inevitable sustainability trade-offs. As an industry leader, these actions could set an example for students and partners alike.

4.1 Impact Summary

The following table is an overview of each company's "scorecard" in each sustainability category. These ratings are the individual opinion of the report's author, determined by her own metrics and based on the research conducted so far.

| | Social Sustainability | Ecological Sustainability | Economic Sustainability |
|-------------|--------------------------|------------------------------|----------------------------|
| Buffer | Α | Α | Α |
| Squarespace | Α | В | Α |
| Facebook | F | Α | F |
| Instagram | В | Α | В |
| Twitter | В | В | В |
| LinkedIn | Α | В | Α |
| Medium | Α | Α | В |
| Thinkific | Α | Α | Α |
| YouTube | F | В | В |

- A They appear to be fully committed in this regard and are setting an industry standard
- B They appear to have some shortcomings but are actively trying to overcome them
- F They have major shortcomings and don't appear willing or capable to overcome them



4.2 Recommendations

The research supports a few key steps that could be taken to alleviate the impact of the UnSchool's digital communication strategy:

> To reduce social impact:

- o Pause the use of Facebook or leave the platform altogether
- Continue with existing policy of positively impactful content
- Ensure posts on Instagram continue to post examples of diversity
- If using Facebook or LinkedIn, create discussion groups where the algorithmic control is not as intense as the main feed
- Do not post on weekends or major holidays
- If in need to use Youtube, do so without signing in to a Google Account
- Limit the amount of postings to respect the user's attention. Suggested frequencies:

Facebook: 4 times a week
 Instagram: 4 times a week
 Twitter: 3 times a day
 LinkedIn: 3 times a week

> To reduce environmental impact:

- Use the current devices as long as possible and dispose of them responsibly
- Do an audit of the site, purge any unnecessary video (even that stored on the site's content management system) and change high-resolution photos for low-resolution ones
- Disconnect any unnecessary plug-ins / APIs from the site or social media accounts
- Whenever possible, use text instead of photo and photo instead of video
- Prioritize video where it gets erased (ie: Instagram stories)
- Write evergreen content on platforms like Medium, where words have a longer shelf life
- Improve the site's SEO and reduce bounce rate
- Use a carbon <u>calculator</u> for the website
- If in need to use YouTube, disconnect the "autoplay" feature

> To reduce economic impact:

- Stop investing in networks that charge to access your audience (such as Facebook)
- Focus on growing the newsletter subscriber lists and designing it for engagement
- Benefit from LinkedIn's business-friendly algorithm by posting there
- Leverage existing personal networks through Twitter and LinkedIn
- Prioritize communication outreach campaigns where the link between user action and desired outcome is measurable (VS general efforts towards "brand awareness" or "community numbers")
- Continue to use tools like Buffer to minimize the time the team needs to physically spend



- When operating these apps, consider social media blockers like Freedom to avoid the negative economic impact from the team's potential compulsive use, as these platforms have proven to be addictive
- Write evergreen content on platforms like Medium, where words have a longer shelf life

These are by no means exhaustive, as the team should come up with its own set of suggestions given their interpretation of the research and the company's current strategic priorities.

Overall, I suggest creating an impact mitigation strategy with three stages:

- 1. Stop using (especially paying) platforms who have the most negative impacts.
- 2. Take stock of all the inevitable energy expenditure, and set up strategies to reduce it.
- 3. Design alternatives or support existing ones, such as social networking sites Mighty Networks and Mastodon.

Finally, I recommend continuing to pursue this line of research. Phase II of this report should include any questions brought up in the team by this report. I also suggest:

- Look into internal tools (such as Google and Whatsapp)
- Analyze details of content production (through a life cycle analysis lense), paying particular attention to "end of life" practices and how to minimize "content waste"
- Find more alternative services and examples of sustainable communication strategies (bright spots)
- Interview experts and asking them for more specific, actionable advice



PHASE 2: INTERNAL COMMUNICATION

Introduction

It is important for any company to consider the tools it uses to interact with the outside world, especially in the case of the UnSchool because its main aim as an organization is to operate in accordance with its sustainability statement and commitment (The UnSchool, 2019). And, as an educational organization, it is in a unique position to set a positive example for its audience and partners.

That said, most of the communication that the company engages in is actually internal — largely among team members who are often operating remotely. The consequences of this constant information stream also needs to be factored into our impact assessment. As we began doing in Phase I, our research will focus on the specific platforms the UnSchool uses, since the consequences of online communication are highly context-dependent.

Once we have identified the biggest sources of negative social, environmental and economic externalities, we will move on to potential solutions. This will be done by researching and presenting a list of alternative platforms that can provide the same functionalities without many of the identified negative impacts.

Tools currently used

Being a small organization based in different geographical locations, the UnSchool team uses off-the-shelf services for their internal communication. Platforms used at the time of writing this report are: Google Drive, Google Email, Google Search, Whatsapp and Canva.

1. Social Impact

1.1 Google Social Impact

All the following products (Google Search, Gmail, Drive and YouTube) are owned by the same company Google and its parent company, Alphabet, although their impacts vary slightly between them. Overall, Alphabet is famed for the good treatment of its over 98,000 employees (Statista, 2019), offering industry-leading benefits from top-notch healthcare (Yatagan, 2013) and generous parenthood leave (Lichtig, 2013) to gourmet meals and showers in the office (Levison, 2018). Google also matches the charitable donations of employees and gives money for the time they volunteer (Google Careers, 2019).

Google's employees are 66% male and 45.5% white. In leadership positions, the percentages go up to 74% male and 60% white (Google Diversity, 2019). The company claims to be aware of the problem and has appointed a Global Director of Diversity, Equity, & Inclusion to lead the effort of



ensuring diversity within its workforce (Google Diversity, 2019).

The company claims its search and advertising tools help provide \$335 billion of economic activity for more than 1.3 million businesses, website publishers, and nonprofits nationwide — in the US alone. (Google Economic Impact, 2019). Currently the UnSchool does not use Google adwords on principle.

Google Search

Google Search is the web's most popular search engine but does not operate as democraticly as it first appears to. Last year, the company had to pay EU regulators €2.4 billion for manipulating shopping search results to favorize its own products (Vincent, 2017).

The American Federal Trade Commission (FTC) is also on their case. In 2012, the US FTC fined Google \$22.5 million for violating the privacy of users of Apple's Safari web browser and is now investigating if Google's favoring of their own services in their search results violated antitrust regulations (FCT, 2019).

In July, the company stopped working on "DragonFly," a search engine designed for China that would reportedly fall in line with Beijing's censorship requirements. It was highly controversial, prompting high-profile resignations and a letter of protest signed by 1,400 Google employees (BBC, 2018).

Beyond claims of breaking the law or being too cozy with undemocratic governments, the platform's function may be helping intensify what is known as the "filter bubble" effect. A study by competitor DuckDuckGo found that most users of the Google Search, regardless of what they search and controlling for both location and timing, see results unique to them (DuckDuckGo, 2018). This is done to maximize economic gain (Praiser, 2011) by increasing media consumption but can lead to amplifying any biases the algorithm had previously detected (ie: being for or against guns), with some arguing that such design hurts democracy (Bozdag, 2015) and can lead to a fragmentation of the public sphere (Moeller, 2018).

However, there is not yet enough research about the actual effects of Google's algorithmic choice. One study on the Google News service showed the polarizing effect on the reader's views were not as significant as expected (Haim, 2017). The company has admitted to this issue and claims to be actively trying to remedy it with a feature called Snippets, which presents brief entries showcasing varying points of view on the subject of the search (Hao, 2018).

Gmail

Gmail has 1.5 billion users (Statista, 2019), and its biggest societal impacts are likely to come from how it handles their private information (Lanier, 2018). From its creation in 2004 until 2017 (Google, 2017), the company analyzed the text of users' private messages to personalize advertising displayed both within Gmail and other platforms (Roettgers, 2017). It has since stopped but still scans content for other purposes like customizing search results and improving its machine learning capabilities (Martineau, 2018) (Popken, 2018). Recently, the product has been particularly criticized for its



common practice of sharing users' emails with third-party developers, despite previously acknowledging the practice and promising to stop it (MacMillan, 2018).

Google Drive

Google automatically scans all documents users upload on their Drives (Google, 2015), although it does so with bots and claims to only share aggregate, non-identifiable data from the user. This Drive scanning code has previously malfunctioned, blocking users from accessing Google Docs with content it deemed "inappropriate." This is how National Geographic reporter Rachel Bale found her draft of a story about wildlife crime was locked for a violation of Google's terms of service. The company has since admitted a glitch and fixed it, but the incident shows that private documents are indeed scanned by the platform (Tung, 2017).

Another concern is ownership. Section 2 of Google's terms of service says that "When you upload, submit, store, send or receive content to or through Google Drive, you give Google a worldwide license to use, host, store, reproduce, modify, create derivative works (such as those resulting from translations, adaptations or other changes we make so that your content works better with our services), communicate, publish, publicly perform, publicly display and distribute such content" (Google, 2019).

While the wording may seem ominous, most cloud providers have similar language because it is needed for the platforms to copy and paste users' content or even create thumbnails (Patel, 2012). Google specifically states they do not claim ownership over any content: "You retain ownership of any intellectual property rights that you hold in that content. In short, what belongs to you stays yours," (Google, 2019).

There is also the issue of spam. Under current settings, Google's sharing system does not require any acceptance, which means spammers can share files that automatically appear in your Drive, and there's no way for the user to stop it (Summerson, 2019). If you have only "view" permission, you can't remove yourself from the share. The company says it is aware of the issue and actively working towards a fix.

1.2 Whatsapp Social Impact

Since 2014, Whatsapp has been owned by Facebook, so please refer to section 1.3 of phase I of the report for details on the parent company's social impact. There is, however, a key difference between Whatsapp and Facebook. Since the former is a private texting tool, it does need to use content moderators and therefore does not participate in the perpetuation of their poor labor conditions.

Another distinct social impact is Whatsapp's difficulty in guaranteeing the safety of its total encryption (Allan 2019). In recent years, the platform has suffered various data breaches (Coldewey



2019), and, most notably, had a technical vulnerability that allowed spyware to be installed in some of its phones (Sawers 2019), including that of a U.K-based human rights lawyer (Srivastava, 2019). Security experts claim the service is still vulnerable in other ways since, for example, end-to-end encryption still allows Facebook to potentially access the chat history (Zanon, 2018) and does not work if the user backs up the chat history using Google Drive (Christopher 2018).

This is not the only challenge to Whatsapp's claim of privacy. According to Whatsapp founder, Brian Acton (the man who launched the #deletefacebook campaign), Facebook asked him to lay the groundwork for showing targeted ads and facilitating commercial messaging in the platform. This, according to him, would go against the encryption he'd helped build and break a social contract with its users. Acton left the company in protest but Facebook has continued with the initiative, announcing it will start showing targeted ads in Whatsapp's status bar as of 2020 (Tambini, 2019).

Finally, Whatsapp also has a misinformation problem. The issue appears to be gravest in the platform's biggest market, India, where 4 out of 5 smartphone users have the app (Agarwal, 2019) and where political parties (Singh 2019) use the platform to advertise. Rumors and fear-mongering content is spreading fast among the youngest users of the platform (Khurana 2018), and the consequences can be fatal. False news of child kidnapping and organ harvesting have already fuelled several instances of public lynchings by vigilante-style mobs (BBC, 2018).

This is a tough challenge for the Whatsapp. Since all messages on it are end-to-end encrypted, it's technically impossible to identify the sources of fake content. The Indian government has been begging the platform to make messages traceable (Lackshaman 2019), but so far there is no sign of willingness in that direction since doing so would require the app to give up its promise of security. Instead, the company has offered \$50,000 for ideas to stop the spread of misinformation on its platform (Telegraph 2018) and launched a service called Checkpoint where Indians could send information and get a response about its veracity of their news during election times (Ravikumar 2019) — although the company has clarified that, so far, this is a research project and "not a helpline," (Checkpoint 2019).

1.3 Canva Social Impact

Canva is based in Australia and appears to offer very good conditions to its hires, including relocation budgets, flexible work hours and free membership to fitness studios (Canva 2019). The company's CEO and founder, Melanie Perkins, makes a point of championing other women at work, is respected by her employees and is now one of the wealthiest women in Australia (Kim 2019).

2. Environmental Impact

As we saw in Phase I of this report, the most effective way to reduce the environmental impact of our digital communications is not necessarily just sending less messages but also ensuring that the technology we are using to transfer that information — from the phones to the servers hosting it — is as energy efficient and carbon neutral as can be.

For example, video is the most energy-intense of digital content; in terms of volume, 10 hours of HD



film contain a larger amount of data than all the text articles in English version of Wikipedia (Effoui-Hess 2019). Overall, video makes up for 80% of the world's data traffic, which is largely divided by four categories, all accounting for about a fourth of total views:free streaming services (Youtube etc.), paid streaming (Netflix etc.), social media (Facebook, Snapchat etc.), and porn (Effoui-Hess 2019).

That said, a video hosted in an efficient server powered by renewable energy and streamed on a tablet will have a drastically smaller footprint than the same video on a slow server powered by coal and watched in a large desktop computer.

This is why, besides trying to reduce the weight of the documents uploaded online, it is key to focus on the platforms used to do this important part of the organization's communication and workflow.

2.1 Google Environmental Impact

Google is one of the tech industry's most vocal advocates for environmental sustainability, and they appear to be highly coherent with this mission. According to the company's Chief Sustainability Officer, Kate Brandt (GreenBiz, 2019), Google has been working to make circular principles a reality across aspects of its operations, from food waste in its cafes, to solar-powered headquarters (Google 2019), to using recycled plastic in all its devices (Dave 2019).

The company's servers use 50% less energy than a typical data center (Google Sustainability, 2019), and, in 2017, Google reached 100% renewable energy for all its global operations. What's more, Google purchases enough renewable energy to match consumption for all of its operations globally (Google Cloud, 2019).

2.2 Whatsapp Environmental Impact

Whatsapp is a Facebook-owned company so please refer to section 2.1 of phase I for details on their environmental impacts. Overall, the platform is largely carbon neutral.

2.3 Canva Environmental Impact

Canva uses Amazon's AWS servers (AWS, 2019). Check footnote 5 for details.

3. Economic Impact

2.1 Google Economic Impact

Google is a highly attractive proposition from the standpoint of cost and convenience. All of Google's services are largely free and incredibly convenient. The platform federates all of them in one bar, which means quick and easy access to a myriad of services: calendar, file storage, note taking, messaging, etc., all easily accessible from any device and with great malware and spam protection



(Vincent, 2019). Using so many services from one provider, however, is likely to generate a certain locked-in effect (Sadighi 2015), since Google already holds years of data and changing providers would require the user to set up various new accounts with platforms that will likely not easily interact as seamlessly with each other.

Alphabet, Google's parent company, is the 16th largest corporation in the world (Forbes, 2019). Last year, Google alone made \$136 billion in revenue — mostly from advertising, which means selling users' data to third parties for ad targeting (Alphabet, 2019). Fundamentally, this business model requires the company to always be gathering private information from its users to then sell it to organizations that want to influence them (Lanier 2018). As CEO of Google Eric Schmidt said in 2010, "We know where you are. We know where you've been. We can more or less know what you're thinking about," (Thompson 2010).

Google has long fought accusations of monopolistic behavior, especially in the space of digital advertisement where the giant is accused of stifling competition (Dave 2019). The company was just hit with a €1.5 billion antitrust fine by the EU because Google Adsense had, for ten years, pressured its customers to sign contracts, stating they would not accept advertising from rival search engines (Vincent 2019). This is the third fine so far by European Regulators. Still, the company insists the ad-tech space is "crowded and competitive" (Hsiao 2019).

2.2 Whatsapp Economic Impact

Whatsapp is also an economically-appealing proposition because it is free to use and is now the world's biggest messaging service, used daily by more than 500 million people (Statista 2019) with India being its biggest market (Singh 2019). The app provides what has been a largely ad-free, encrypted messaging functionality.

But the promise of privacy appears to be conditional, as the company is soon going to roll out targeted advertising and is also about to launch payments on the app, a model that is first going to test in India (Reichert 2019).

Overall, the largest economic challenge of using Whatsapp is the locked-in effect generated by the platform's network effect. The more its user base grows, the harder it is to leave to another platform without losing touch with contacts, if not impossible (Evans, 2017).

2.3 Canva Economic Impact

Canva is very cost effective solution. Its free option offers access to over 8,000 templates, and its Pro subscription is a small fraction of the price of a professional designer. The platform offers access to 400,000 free images with license to use for business (Canva 2019), which is also significantly cheaper than the cost of most stock photography services.

This could have a negative economic impact on full time professional graphic designers but also arguably provide an opportunity for less experienced creatives looking for work and exposure. So far, there appear to have been no formal complaints against the company by designers. What's more,



the UnSchool does hire full-time designers, and Canva now has a professional marketplace where designers can upload their work and gain royalties for it (Canva Marketplace 2019).

The platform's only technical downside is the fact that they are a 100% web based. This means users can't store the files locally, so poor internet connectivity or Canva's site maintenance may delay access to designs. This could be less of a risk with a desktop application.

Canva only offers PDF, JPEG and PNG, which are not useful for advanced editing in other software. In the free version, users are limited to the fonts that Canva has developed as part of their online platform, so designing a logo with them can easily create a slight locked-in factor.

Overall, Canva appears like a cost effective solution and a sustainable one too, since the company seems to have a good financial footing, making a sizeable profit and valued at \$2.5 billion (Clark, 2019).

4. Alternative Tools

This report has uncovered the negative impacts of several of the platforms that the UnSchool uses to communicate both externally and internally. Now it is time to consider alternatives. Below is a list of vetted tools that could potentially replace the use of less socially, environmentally or economically sustainable ones.

4.1 Alternatives to Facebook

The UnSchool uses Facebook mainly to connect its alumni and community, along with general social media communication. LinkedIn could be an alternative to this platform and so might the ones below.

Mighty Networks

Founded by tech entrepreneur Gina Bianchini, Mighty Networks is actively trying to be a kinder, community-based alternative to Facebook (Bianchini 2019). The site focuses on privacy and customization, and its business model (free of any advertisement) ensures it will not follow Facebook's bait-and-switch strategies of forcing customers to pay for access to their followers. The company also has a good track record of employee care (Glassdoor 2019).

The platform gives creators full control over the look, feel and engagement rules of their community and appears to be working for hundreds of them, like Yoga with Adriene or the Happy Startup School (McCahill 2018).

Creating one group is free, and sub groups can be activated for \$12 a month. Premium plans also allow users to create a Mighty Network website or ecommerce store (Mighty Networks 2019) with a variety of features, such as member subscriptions, native mobile apps and a customized web landing pages and even online courses. Mighty Networks runs on AWS's carbon conscious server



infrastructure (AWS 2019). Check footnote 5 for details.

The company is making a profit and has raised \$11 million dollars to grow its business offerings (Cision 2019).

MeWe

MeWe is a Facebook-style platform which is free to use and less business-oriented than Mighty Networks. The company has Tim Berners-Lee, one of the primary architects of the World Wide Web, on its board of advisors. Its interface is simple and intuitive; it covers all the Facebook basics, and it is dedicated to maintaining user privacy (MeWe, 2019).

It has advertising, but it is not targeted. MeWe has raised about \$10 million dollars to date (Chun Chen 2018) and compensates for that lower ad revenue by selling add-on services, like voice messaging and message encryption. It also has a user-friendly enterprise option named MeWePro (similar to Slack).

Mastodon

Mastodon is a free and open-source self-hosted social networking service with 362,055 users (Mastodon 2019). Its functionality is closer to that of Twitter than Facebook but may still serve to communicate with the UnSchool community. It allows anyone to host their own server node in the network, and its various separately-operating user bases are federated across many different servers.

The platform is proudly free, non for profit and open source. It offers users 500 characters, instead of Twitter's 280, and allows users to follow, "boost" (equivalent to retweet) and like comments, as well as send direct messages to other users. The main difference is that allows users to change the privacy settings of each post.

Mastodon runs in a lot of different servers, and each can have its own rules and moderation policy, which results in much better moderation abilities than Twitter. This also means rules can vary widely from one group to the next. The platform, for example, was recently infiltrated by nazis, igniting some contentious debate within the community about whether or not to block them (Robertson 2019).

Assessing the environmental footprint of Mastodon is virtually impossible. Because the platform is not run by a single company but by a decentralized "federation" (Mastodon 2019), users run hundreds of versions of Mastodon on different types of servers around the world. These are interoperable, allowing users to communicate between servers, but it means there is no way of knowing the impact of each server besides asking each individual host. That said, the UnSchool could likely find a green server or even set up its own, ensuring full control over its emissions.

In terms of use, the platform is less intuitive to set up than the previous options and it has a distinctly contrarian and "techie" culture, which could be very appealing to some of the UnSchool students but risks alienating less tech-savvy ones.



4.2 Alternatives to Gmail

TutaNota

This is one of the most popular, secure email servers. With end-to-end encryption and 2-factor authentication, the emails' contents are extremely safe from snooping. It also provides a free, encrypted calendar (integrated seamlessly into the secure email client like Google Calendar is).

The service is completely free of advertisements, but to use with a professional alias, users have to upgrade to the \$12 a month account to get technical support and up to 5 more aliases (TutaNota 2019). Tutanota is run by a small team in Germany and is open source so that security experts can verify their code.

As for its environmental impact, Tutanota uses 100% renewable energy to power their servers (TutaNota 2019) and its employees have been regularly attending the "Friday for Future" climate protests in Germany (TutaNota 2019).

ProtonMail

ProtonMail is another highly popular, easy to use, secure alternative to Gmail. Founded by a group of CERN researchers, all emails are secured automatically with end-to-end encryption, and no personal information is required to create your secure email account (ProtonMail 2019).

The company incorporated in Switzerland, where all their servers are located. This means all user data is protected by very strict Swiss privacy laws. Their code is also open source and basic ProtonMail accounts will always be free. Their business service, ProtonMail Professional, costs \$6.25 per user, per month (ProtonMail 2019).

ProtonMail claims to be committed to reach 100% renewable energy use and says it always chooses the most eco-friendly option for its energy needs (r/ProtonMail 2019). Their initial data-center uses only hydroelectric energy, but they say they have "had to diversify" on subsequent ones — so it's not clear which percentage of their energy currently comes from fossil fuels. Since they are in Switzerland, however, which powers the vast majority of its grid through hydro and nuclear power, the percentage is likely to be small (EDA 2019).

4.3 Alternatives to Google Drive

Box

Box.com is a California based, well-established alternative to Google Drive with a strong focus on privacy. It is used by 95,000 customers and 69% of Fortune 500 companies (Box 2019). The platform offers a highly intuitive way to store, access and modify documents from anywhere, and it includes a powerful search feature as well as the option of locking shared files so others can't overwrite one's



edits. Any changes made, even when offline, automatically save to Box. All cloud content is also accessible from the users' desktop, making it faster to access files.

Box appears to have a healthy work culture (Glassdoor 2019), and Fortune listed it as one of the best companies to work for in 2019 (Great Places to Work 2019). The platform runs on AWS's carbon neutral aspiring servers (AWS 2019). Check footnote 5 for details.

4.4 Alternatives to Google Search

DuckDuckGo

As one of the most popular privacy-conscious search engines, DuckDuckGo is still funded by advertising but does not track its users, share their search history or use any of their personal data.

The usability of the platform is very similar to that of Google, and there are phone apps available that provide additional protection when browsing the web. It's also easy to set any web browser to use DuckDuckGo as its default search engine.

The company is based in the USA and uses Amazon's AWS servers (AWS 2019), which as we have explained before in the report, uses more than 50% renewable energy and is on track to get to 100%.

Ecosia

Ecosia is an Internet search engine based in Berlin, Germany that donates 80% or more of its profits to non-profit organizations working on Reforestation. The platform has 8 million users and claims to have planted over 69 million trees (Ecosia 2019). All Ecosia searches are powered with 100% renewable energy from a solar farm that the company built itself (Ecosia 2019). As of this year, they are actually producing twice as much solar power as they need to power the platform as a way to actively "crowd out dirty energy from the grid."

Ecosia a was the first ever German B Corp and publishes their monthly financial reports and tree planting receipts (B Corporation 2019). The platform doesn't track users or sell data to third party advertisers either.

4.5 Alternatives to YouTube

PeerTube

PeerTube is an open source federated alternative to YouTube. It's a video-oriented social network that doesn't have ads and doesn't track the users. It's still very new so there isn't much content to view, but it's growing.

Unlike YouTube (and much like Mastodon), PeerTube is made up of lots of independent sites that connect to each other. It doesn't matter which site a user signs up to, they're all part of the same



network, erasing any fears of monopoly. Their site financed by a French non-profit organization: Framasof (Framasof 2019).

As with Mastodon, this is a slightly more technical set-up than those of other platforms, but it offers more control. The environmental impact of the service will depend on the server the UnSchool uses to host in, but renewable energy powered options are available. And, since it offers peer-to-peer streaming, it is more efficient (which means it uses less energy) than other centralized data centers (PeerTube 2019).

Vimeo

Vimeo is an ad-free video sharing platform with advanced privacy features, such as password protected videos. Vimeo Plus costs \$7 a month when billed annually, or \$12 a month when billed monthly.

YouTube has a significantly larger and more international audience and, because it's owned by Google, it is also noticeably more visible in Google Searches. Still, Vimeo has a good reputation amongst the 90 million creators (Vimeo 2019) who use it, and the comment sections tends to feature much more constructive criticism than Youtube ones.

The company is based out of New York and makes their money by selling video hosting services, so publishers and businesses can offer their users an ad-free viewing experience. With \$160 million in revenue last year, it appears to be financially sustainable (Reuters 2019).

Vimeo allows for better quality but does not have an auto-play feature which does not encourage superfluous view-time (Adeyemi 2018) or the recommendations via AI that Youtube deploys to generate user addiction (Maack 2019). Vimeo stores their data on Amazon's AWS centers (AWS 2019). Check footnote 5 for details.

4.6 Alternatives to Whatsapp

Telegram

Telegram is likely the most popular alternative to Whatsapp, with 200 million users a month (Telegram 2019). Its messages have no limits in size, are heavily encrypted and can self-destruct. Additionally, the company has an open API and is protocol free for everyone, which means its open source. The app was famously used by many of the Hong Kong protesters, and its creators fought hard to protect the identities of these users, offering them a way to cloak their phone number from Chinese authorities (Schetman, 2019).

Telegram Messenger LLP is an independent nonprofit company located in Berlin, Germany and promises to be free forever, without ads or subscription fees. How they will do that is not completely clear. Some options include premium channels for companies or personalized screen backgrounds, etc. (Majumber 2019). The other is mining its own cryptocurrency. Telegram just raised \$850 million for its first ICO (Initial Coin Offering) to build its own (Russell 2018).



While this is good news for the economical sustainability of the company, it may not be as good for the environment. Their cryptocurrency runs on blockchain technology, which, by virtue of its being deliberately slow protocols, is immensely carbon intensive. The annual carbon emissions associated with the creation of Bitcoins are equivalent to those of countries like Jordan or Sri Lanka (Stoll 2019). Add in the other cryptocurrencies, and the emissions level more than doubles (Stoll 2019).

Telegram's servers are spread worldwide for security and speed, but the company has not disclosed whether they are carbon neutral. Nor did they answer several requests for comment on the issue. That said, it is not clear yet how far Telegram wants to grow its cryptocurrency game and, since it allows for messages to self destruct with a timer, the UnSchool could use this option to significantly curb its footprint on the platform.

Signal

Signal is similar to Telegram but also allows video calls. Its messages and calls are always end-to-end encrypted and painstakingly engineered to keep your communication safe. The app is used by many investigative journalists and cryptographers, and it has even been endorsed by Edward Snowden (Signal 2019).

There are no ads, affiliate marketers or tracking of any kind. The app is maintained and developed by the Signal Foundation, a 501(c)(3) nonprofit organization that was cofounded by Brian Acton, the co-founder of WhatsApp, who gave \$50 million to it (Coldewey 2018). Telegram is Open Source project supported by grants and donations, so their financial viability in the long term is not guaranteed.

As for their environmental footprint, Signal runs its own centralized servers but hasn't answered our questions about which energy they use to run them. The app, however, does also offer the option for users to set their messages to disappear at an interval of choice, allowing individuals to reduce the amount of data they store and hence the amount of emissions they generate.

4.7 New Team Collaboration Tool

As the UnSchool considers using a project management tool, below are a few vetted options.

Monday.com

Monday.com is an Israeli company with offices in Tel Aviv and New York. It offers a varied set of tools to manage a team's workflow, including kanban view and activity log as well as a timeline, calendar and map view. The tool has a tasks-only approach, focused on executing on one thing at a time.

It appears to be doing great financially, recently raising another \$150 million and putting its valuation at \$1.9 billion (Lunden 2019). They are invested in maintaining a highly secure service and are GDPR compliant (Monday.com 2019). Their servers are in Amazon's AWS data centers located in



Northern Virginia (AWS 2019). Check footnote 5 for details.

Monday.com offers no free option but instead several packages with price depending on the number of users. On a monthly basis, and for up to 5 users, the Basic plan is priced at \$29 per month.

Asana

Asana is a comprehensive web and mobile application for teams to organize, track, and manage their workload; it includes calendar, tasks, deadline alerts, kanban boards, gantt charts etc. Users can expand tasks into subtasks and define relationships between them with dependencies for a more Systems Thinking friendly view.

The company keeps users' data secure and is SOC 2 (Type 2) certified. It also works with third-party security services, and it runs regular penetration tests and network scans to reduce vulnerabilities and security threats to the data (Asana, 2019).

Asana has a good track record of employee care (Glassdoor 2019), a fifty-fifty gender split in management, a strong commitment to equal pay and the promotion of diverse talent (Asana, 2019).

The company runs its servers through Amazon's infrastructure. Its free version is available for teams of up to 15 people. Asana Premium costs \$10.99 per user per month when billed annually.

Riot

This open source alternative to Slack is free and has many similar features, including messaging boards which can be organized as groups and sub-groups, file sharing options and even voice and video conferencing. Notifications and privacy settings can be totally customized to meet each of its 7 million users' needs. All data can be end-to-end encrypted, meaning no-one else can eavesdrop, not even admins (Riot, 2019).

Riot is the brainchild of the Matrix Foundation, a UK-based Community Interest company with the goal of creating open networks for secure, decentralized communication (Matrix 2019). The software is designed to be run on the users' server of choice, making it slightly less user friendly to set up, but giving the company entire control over its data and energy sourcing (Riot, 2019).



5. Phase II Conclusion

This second phase of research has shown that the tools that the UnSchool uses for internal communication have so far been largely environmentally sustainable, yet some social and economic impacts are worrisome — particularly in the case of Google services.

We now have a clear picture of these consequences. Still, digital communications are a complicated arena, so full of ever-changing technical innovations and affecting such widely different socio-political contexts that reaching broad conclusions is almost impossible. Even when a specific tool or behavior appears to be have measurable negative impacts, choosing what to do with that information is not easy.

Firstly, companies are often not equally sustainable in the three areas. This means that a giant corporation like Google is likely to have the largest social impacts but also the financial resources and political clout to build its own highly efficient server infrastructure and become a major renewable energy buyer (Pichai 2019).

What's more, different services owned by the same company can have very different effects. Google Maps, for example, does not have the same effect on privacy as Google Drive does, so the question remains whether it makes sense to disinvest from using a specific tool from a company or all of them.

Finally, economic sustainability may not always favor the smaller options. Google can offer its services for free because it sells users' data, which means that more privacy options will also be more expensive. Even further, many of these new tools are offered by young startups or non-profits, both of which are more likely to suffer economically down the line, forcing the UnSchool to change providers again.

As always, sustainability is not a clear choice but a trade off, and it ultimately is up to the UnSchool leadership to decide which are its priorities and what is the least of all problematic options. The first step is knowing them (Bansal 2016).

5.1 Impact Summary

The following table is an overview of each company's "scorecard" in each sustainability category. These ratings are the individual opinion of the report's author, determined by her own metrics and based on the research conducted so far.

| | Social | Ecological | Economic |
|---------------|----------------|----------------|----------------|
| | Sustainability | Sustainability | Sustainability |
| GOOGLE SEARCH | F | Α | В |



| GMAIL | F | Α | В |
|--------------|---|---|---|
| GOOGLE DRIVE | F | Α | В |
| WHATSAPP | F | Α | В |
| CANVA | Α | В | Α |

- A They appear to be fully committed in this regard and are setting an industry standard
- B They appear to have some shortcomings but are actively trying to overcome them
- F They have major shortcomings and don't appear willing or capable to overcome them

5.2 Recommendation

The research supports a few key steps that could be taken to alleviate the impact of the UnSchool's internal communication strategy:

> To reduce social impact:

- Disinvest from Google services ie: Google Drive, Gmail and Search
- Inform others about the risks that Google services have on their privacy
- Invest in using alternative tools (see section 4)

> To reduce environmental impact:

- Use <u>GreenPeace Guide to Greener Electronics</u> (Fairphone and Apple lead the pack)
- Keep any physical digital devices for as long as possible
- Have a thorough end of life strategy for all electronic devices
- Whenever possible, store big files in actual physical <u>hard drives</u>, since they use significantly less energy than the cloud
- o Consider doing a quarterly download and permanently deleting the online copy
- Add browser <u>extension</u> to keep tabs on the emissions of web surfing
- Whenever possible (for quick searches or e-mails), use a phone or tablet over a laptop or desktop because they use less electricity
- Before producing any new content consider: Does this really need to be created or can we repurpose some existing content?
- Reduce the weight of videos by compressing them
- Set timers to self-destroy messages on texting apps
- Do regular clean up of old versions of documents from cloud services
- Avoid using blockchain technology or cryptocurrencies powered by it
- Whenever possible, use text instead of photo, and photo instead of video

> To reduce economic impact:

- Where possible stop working with Google drive
- Whenever possible, choose decentralized networks which are more resilient to attacks and less prone to controlling users' behavior
- Move to non-advertisement funded alternatives (see section 4)



- Develop a community in a platform that respects the privacy of the members and also gives the UnSchool, as admin, full control of its moderation and reach
- Use the transition as a way to educate users about the potential pitfalls of advertisement based platforms
- Avoid paying for redundant digital services: for example, a cloud storage facility, a
 web call service and a team collaboration tool when it turns out that the
 collaboration tool already provides cloud storage and web calls

These are not meant to be exhaustive to-do lists but, instead, a starting point for the UnSchool's team and community to figure out how to take actions online that align with the company's sustainability principles.

All of these conclusions are likely to be time-sensitive. As technology evolves, regulators crack on big tech companies and the general public becomes more aware of its digital footprint, we are likely to see important changes. It is recommended, therefore, that the UnSchool amends this report as new information arises and sets up a specific time to review it yearly.

PHASE 3: POLICY DEVELOPMENT

1. Introduction

As a result of this investigation into the impact of the UnSchool's internal and external communication approaches, social, economical and environmental impacts, a policy statement was developed and changes to the operating process of the organization has and will continue to be made. This was developed by the founder in connection with the team and researcher responsible for the main report.

It was surprising to discover just how much of an impact the seemingly simple choices of what platforms to use and the frequency of use has on the environment and society. Of course, as a small organization, we have time and resource pressures in having to maintain and run any form of marketing and communication in order to reach customers and achieve their mission. Our mission is to affect positive change, and thus, embedding this in all that we do is critical to the operations of the entire organization.

Simple choices made early on, such as hosting our alumni community on Facebook, resulted in many of our alumni being forced into that ecosystem, despite them having previously opted out. Similarly, Google is fantastic at providing services such as Google Drive, designed so well it ensures you don't ever need to look for alternative options. Each of these platforms met our needs with varying degrees of impact. It's obvious that there are no 'perfect' solutions, yet changing our intentional communication approaches and community engagement techniques will allow us to support our community whilst mindfully ensuring that the outcomes are working towards net positive.



Significantly, the new knowledge and insights that this reporting process has offered enables all team members to be more assertive and proactive when designing strategy or interacting with fellow team members. The reduction in social posting may have a negative impact on our ability to engage our community and communicate our work, but we intend on being very sincere about our actions. It is thus hoped that the quality-over-quantity method we will move towards will result in more mutually beneficial engagement.

2. Actions

Based on the recommendations provided, the following main actions have or will be taken by the UnSchool to support a shift toward more sustainable communication approaches:

- Significant reduction in social posting to Instagram and Facebook; as per the
 recommendations, we will make a community announcement and then we will only be
 posting once per week unless we have significant announcements to make such as programs
 or milestone projects
- 2. Transition off Facebook and onto LinkedIn for the majority of our community engagement and communication
- 3. Transition our alumni community from Facebook to LinkedIn groups
- 4. Utilize our newsletter (which is hosted via our website provider) as a more central location for communicating the ideas and offerings (as it stands, we write a long-form journal article each week and share it to our newsletter subscribers)
- 5. Provide more high-value specific content to a more engaged community on LinkedIn
- 6. Move internal communications to more ethical options and diversify the platforms we use as to reduce the 'locked-in' effect
- 7. Conduct research on the ethical and environmental impacts of any new platforms that we will move to or start using as part of any of our external or internal communications
- 8. Continue our policy of not paying for any Facebook or Google ads and instead, rely on high-value experiences to further transmit our work
- 9. Work with our community to create and maintain high-value exchanges that support continued growth and community development in ethical and sustainable ways
- 10. Conduct digital audits regularly, removing unused files from the cloud, creating offline backups and reducing the carbon burden that our digital activities have online

3. The UnSchool Sustainable Communication Policy

The UnSchool is committed to making a positive impact through all that we do. We know that there are trade offs in every action, and we seek to gain the knowledge to inform better decision-making so that we can ensure the actions we take have a more positive impact in achieving our goals and operating as a business.

We know that any action taken, off or online, will have an impact and that the internet, whilst seemingly digital is actually physical, and thus has real-world impacts, from energy use through to impacts on society, as well as the economy. One person sharing one thing can influence many



others, but increasingly, the internet, and specifically social media, has become a screaming ground where you have to compete for attention in the most flamboyant way. Every video, image, word and idea shared online has not just the potential to impact the receiver of the information, but also the planet, as we increase the amount of data uploaded and stored on servers around the world.

This all poses a significant conundrum for a social impact organization such as ours. In order to be seen and heard, you must be present and posting. This ensures that we are all stuck in a continuous vicious reinforcing feedback loop whereby more is never enough. We know we need to communicate, but there are many ways of doing this. And in a content-saturated world, we would like to be one of the organizations who takes the time to learn, reflect and consider the impact of our actions and ensure that what we do choose to participate in is done so with the knowledge that it is the best option for us, for our community and for the planet at large.

Thus we have a reduced posting schedule and actively consider the places we ask people to meet us digitally. We research the impacts of our digital activities, regularly remove and store offline files, and consciously consider all media uploads. We offer high-value considered content posted once per week, and we do not buy digital ads. We will continue to strive to learn about the impact of our digital activities, and through this, evolve the way we engage with our community, share content and make change.

Considerations for other organizations

We decided to conduct and release this report as a result of our own enlightenment that this research has brought us. We strongly encourage other organizations, especially those interested in affecting positive change, to conduct an audit of your external and internal communication approaches and then make considered choices to help minimize the social, economic and environmental impact of your organization's impacts. This kind of work can be frustrating as you uncover impacts to your actions that you previously were not aware of, but this is how we make change, through the tension that new knowledge brings.



Bibliography

Α

Adeyemi, *Bad Design At Its Finest: YouTube AutoPlay*, February 2008, accessed 30 September 2019 https://sites.tufts.edu/hadeye01humanfactors/2018/02/08/bad-design-at-its-finest-youtube-autoplay/>

Ahadzadeh, A.S., Sharif, S.P., & Ong, F.S. (2017). Self-schema and self-discrepancy mediate the influence of Instagram usage on body image satisfaction among youth. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 68, 8-16.

Agarwal S, WhatsApp has 400 million users in India, but no fix for its fake news problem August 12, accessed 30 September 2019

https://www.digitaltrends.com/news/whatsapp-india-fake-news-lynchings/

Andrae SG A, Edler T *On Global Electricity Usage of Communication Technology: Trends to 2030* by Huawei Technologies Sweden AB, Skalholtsgatan 9, 16494 Kista, Sweden *Challenges* (2015), *6*(1), 117-157; https://doi.org/10.3390/challe6010117

Alexa, *Medium.com*, Amazon, accessed 30 September 2019 https://www.alexa.com/siteinfo/medium.com>

Alphabet Investor Relations, accessed 30 September 2019 https://abc.xyz/investor/

Allan D, WhatsApp hack: are our messages ever truly private?, TechRadar,
May 26, accessed 17 September 2019
https://www.techradar.com/news/whatsapp-hack-are-our-messages-ever-truly-private

Al-Jazeera, *Egypt bans Medium as media crackdown widens*, accessed 30 September 2019 https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2017/06/egypt-bans-62-news-websites-latest-media-crackdown-170612164646323.html

Diversity and inclusion, Asana 2019 https://asana.com/diversity-and-inclusion>

AWS & Sustainability, Amazon, accessed 17 September 2019 https://aws.amazon.com/about-aws/sustainability/

Case Study, Canva, AWS, accessed 17 September 2019 https://aws.amazon.com/solutions/case-studies/canva/

Product Environmental Report, 13-inch MacBook Air with Retina display, Apple, October 30 2018, accessed 17 September 2019

https://www.apple.com/ca/environment/pdf/products/notebooks/13-inch_MacBookAir_w_Retina_PER_oct2018.pdf



В

B Corp, Ecosia, accessed 17 September 2019 http://www.bcorporation.net/community/ecosia-gmbh

Bansal T, Chapardar H, Gehman J, *Tradeoffs in Sustainability-Oriented Innovations*, February 17 2016, MITSloan, accessed 30 September 2019

https://sloanreview.mit.edu/article/tradeoffs-in-sustainability-oriented-innovations/

Barker J, You can't manage emissions until you can measure them, and it's harder than you think,
The Conversation, 1 December 2011, accessed 17 September 2019
https://theconversation.com/you-cant-manage-emissions-until-you-can-measure-them-and-its-har-der-than-you-think-4518>

How WhatsApp helped turn an Indian village into a lynch mob, BBC, 19 July 2018, accessed 30 September 2019 https://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-india-44856910>

Sundar Pichai: Google 'exploring' censored China search app, BBC, 16 October 2018, accessed 30 September 2019 https://www.bbc.com/news/technology-45872965>

Belkhir L, Elmeligi A, Assessing ICT global emissions footprint: Trends to 2040 & recommendations W Booth School of Engineering Practice & Technology, McMaster University, Canada (2018)

Bergen M, YouTube *Executives Ignored Warnings, Letting Toxic Videos Run Rampa*nt, Bloomberg, April 2 2019, ccessed 30 September 2019

https://www.bloomberg.com/news/features/2019-04-02/youtube-executives-ignored-warnings-let-ting-toxic-videos-run-rampant

Bernhard T. Baune, Margie E. Lachman, Stefan Agrigoroaei. *Promoting Functional Health in Midlife and Old Age: Long-Term Protective Effects of Control Beliefs, Social Support, and Physical Exercise. PLoS ONE*, 2010; 5 (10): e13297 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0013297

Berry N, Lobban F, Belousov M, Emsley R, Nenadic G, Bucci S #WhyWeTweetMH: Understanding Why People Use Twitter to Discuss Mental Health Problems J Med Internet Res 2017;19(4):e107 10.2196/jmir.6173

Bianchini G, *Facebook is gaslighting us*, May 13, accessed 17 September 2019 https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/facebook-gaslighting-us-gina-bianchini/

Box, accessed 17 September 2019 https://www.box.com/en-gb/industries/education>

Boxell L, Gentzkow M, Shapiro L. J, Is the Internet Causing Political Polarization? Evidence from Demographics, NBER Working Paper No. 23258, March 2017

NBER Program(s): Political Economy https://www.nber.org/papers/w23258

Bozdag E, Hoven J, Breaking the filter bubble: democracy and design, Ethics and Information



TechnologyDecember 2015, Volume 17, Issue 4, pp 249–265 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10676-015-9380-y

Brandom R, *Facebook's antitrust investigation could finish as soon as next year,* The Verge, August 19, accessed 17 September 2019

<https://www.theverge.com/2019/8/19/20812932/ftc-facebook-antitrust-investigation-2020-election

Brignull, H, Dark Patterns < https://www.darkpatterns.org/ > assessed Oct 2019

Bridle, J *The nightmare videos of children' YouTube — and what's wrong with the internet today,* TED, 13 July 2018, accessed 30 September 2019

<https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=v9EKV2nSU8w>

Buffer, Glassdoor, accessed 17 September 2019 https://www.glassdoor.com/Overview/Working-at-Buffer-El_IE941992.11,17.htm

Diversity at Buffer, Buffer, accessed 17 September 2019 https://diversity.buffer.com/>
Buffer + Transparency, Buffer, accessed 17 September 2019 https://buffer.com/transparency%20>

Buffer + Nonprofits, Buffer, accessed 17 September 2019 < https://buffer.com/nonprofits>

Introducing Transparent Pricing: What Your Money is Used for When you Purchase a Buffer Subscription, Buffer, accessed 17 September 2019
https://open.buffer.com/transparent-pricing-buffer/

[Reply] How much data can be exported to CSV?, Buffer FAQ, accessed 17 September 2019 https://faq.buffer.com/article/819-reply-csv-exports>

Buzzi M. (2012) What Are Your Children Watching on YouTube? Advances in New Technologies, Interactive Interfaces and Communicability. ADNIC 2011. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, vol 7547. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-34010-9 23>

C

Canva for NonProfits, Canva, accessed 30 September 2019, https://about.canva.com/canva-for-nonprofits/>

Castro A, How the biggest decentralized social network is dealing with its Nazi problem, The Verge, accessed July 21, 17 September 2019,

https://www.theverge.com/2019/7/12/20691957/mastodon-decentralized-social-network-gab-mig-ration-fediverse-app-blocking

Choose the right Canva plan for you, Canva, accessed 30 September 2019, https://about.canva.com/pricing/>



Introducing Canva's Layout Design Marketplace, Canva Marketplace, accessed 30 September 2019, https://about.canva.com/news/canva-launches-design-marketplace/

CISCO, Cisco Visual Networking Index: Forecast and Trends, 2017–2022 White Paper, accessed 17 September 2019,

https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/solutions/collateral/service-provider/visual-networking-index-vni/white-paper-c11-741490.html

Mighty Networks raises \$11M in a Series A led by Intel Capital and Sierra Wasatch to deliver Experiential Commerce, CISION, April 3, accessed 17 September 2019,

https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/mighty-networks-raises-11m-in-a-series-a-led-by-integl-capital-and-sierra-wasatch-to-deliver-experiential-commerce-300823913.html

Checkpoint, accessed 30 September 2019 < https://www.checkpoint.pro.to/>

Christopher N, Whatsapp says Messages on Google Drive Not Encrypted, August 28, accessed 17 September 2019

https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/tech/internet/whatsapp-says-messages-on-google-drive-no t-encrypted/articleshow/65556350.cms?from=mdr

Constine J, Facebook Is Shutting Down Its API For Giving Your Friends' Data To Apps, Tech Crunch, April 28 2015, accessed 17 September 2019

https://techcrunch.com/2015/04/28/facebook-api-shut-down/

Coldewey K, WhatsApp exploit let attackers install government-grade spyware on phones, May 14, accessed 17 September 2019

https://techcrunch.com/2019/05/13/whatsapp-exploit-let-attackers-install-government-grade-spy ware-on-phones/>

Coldewey K, Signal expands into the Signal Foundation with \$50M from WhatsApp co-founder Brian Acton, February 21 2018, accessed 30 September 2019

https://techcrunch.com/2018/02/21/signal-expands-into-the-signal-foundation-with-50m-from-whatsapp-co-founder-brian-acton/>

Clark K, *Graphic design platform valued at \$2.5B*, TechCrunch, accessed 30 September 2019 https://techcrunch.com/2019/05/20/graphic-design-platform-canva-valued-at-2-5b-with-new-funds/

Medium, Crunchbase, 2019,

https://www.crunchbase.com/organization/medium

Thinkific, Crunchbase, 2019

https://www.crunchbase.com/organization/thinkific



Chun Chen I, Facebook alternative MeWe raises \$5.2 million in funds, July 5 2018, accessed 30 September 2019

https://www.bizjournals.com/losangeles/news/2018/07/05/facebook-alternative-mewe-raises-5-2-million-in.html

D

Dave P, Google pledges carbon-neutral shipping, recycled plastic for all devices, Reuters, accessed 30 September 2019

https://www.reuters.com/article/us-alphabet-google-devices/google-pledges-carbon-neutral-shipp ing-recycled-plastic-for-all-devices-idUSKCN1UV1J2>

Dave P, Explainer: Advertising executives point to five ways Google stifles business, Reuters, September 11, accessed 30 September 2019

https://www.reuters.com/article/us-tech-antitrust-google-explainer/explainer-advertising-execs-point-to-five-ways-google-stifles-business-idUSKCN1VW2L9

Daniels J, *The Algorithmic Rise of the "Alt-Right"*, Contexts, March 28, 2018, accessed 17 September 2019 https://contexts.org/articles/the-algorithmic-rise-of-the-alt-right/>

Delaney D, L. A. R. Stein & Gruber R, *Facebook addiction and impulsive decision-making,* Journal Addiction Research & Theory Volume 26, 2018 - Issue 6 Pages 478-486 https://doi.org/10.1080/16066359.2017.1406482

Dell XPS 139360, Dell, accessed 17 September 2019 https://i.dell.com/sites/csdocuments/CorpComm Docs/en/carbon-footprint-xps-9360.pdf>

DiCaprio DJ T, *The Microsoft carbon fee: theory & practice,* Microsoft, December 2013, accessed 17 September 2019

http://download.microsoft.com/documents/en-us/csr/environment/microsoft_carbon_fee_guide.
pdf>

Dickey M, These are the 15 best tech companies to work for, TechCrunch, 5 December 2008, accessed 17 September 2019

https://techcrunch.com/2018/12/04/these-are-the-15-best-u-s-tech-companies-to-work-for-in-2019-according-to-glassdoor/

DiResta R, Dr. Shaffer K, Ruppel B, Sullivan D, Matney R, Fox R, *The Tactics & Tropes of the Internet Research Agency*, New Knowledge, Tow Center for Digital Journalism, Columbia University, Canfield Research, LLC December 17 2018, accessed 17 September 2019

https://cdn2.hubspot.net/hubfs/4326998/ira-report-rebrand FinalJ14.pdf

Dix J, LinkedIn pumps water down to its server racks, uses an interesting spine and leaf network fabric, January 24, 2017, accessed 17 September 2019

https://www.networkworld.com/article/3161184/linkedin-pumps-water-down-to-its-server-racks-



uses-an-interesting-spine-and-leaf-network-fabric.html>

Measuring the "Filter Bubble": How Google is influencing what you click, DuckDuck Go, 4 December 2018, accessed 30 September 2019 https://spreadprivacy.com/google-filter-bubble-study/

Dunphy R, Can YouTube Survive the Adpocalypse?, New York Magazine, December 28 2017, accessed 30 September 2019

http://nymag.com/intelligencer/2017/12/can-youtube-survive-the-adpocalypse.html

Dwoskin E, *Inside Facebook, the second-class workers who do the hardest job are waging a quiet battle,* May 8 2018, accessed 17 September 2019

https://www.washingtonpost.com/technology/2019/05/08/inside-facebook-second-class-workers-who-do-hardest-job-are-waging-quiet-battle/?noredirect=on

Dwoskin E, Whalen J and Cabato R, *Content moderators at YouTube, Facebook and Twitter see the worst of the web — and suffer silently,* The Washington Post, July 25, accessed 17 September 2019 https://www.washingtonpost.com/technology/2019/07/25/social-media-companies-are-outsourcing-their-dirty-work-philippines-generation-workers-is-paying-price/

Ε

Ecosia, accessed 30 September 2019 < https://info.ecosia.org/what>

Why "carbon neutral" is not enough: Ecosia has built its own solar plants, Ecosia, 1 August, accessed 30 September 2019

https://blog.ecosia.org/why-carbon-neutral-is-not-enough-ecosia-has-built-its-own-solar-plants/

Energy – Facts and Figures, Switzerland, EDA, accessed 30 September 2019 https://www.eda.admin.ch/aboutswitzerland/en/home/wirtschaft/energie/energie---fakten-und-zahlen.html

Edwards J, \$132 million later, Ev Williams says he is raising even more money for Medium, Business Insider, November 9 2018, accessed 30 September 2019

https://www.businessinsider.in/132-million-later-Ev-Williams-says-he-is-raising-even-more-money-for-Medium/articleshow/66549558.cms

Effouie-Hess M, *Climate Crisis: The Unsustainable Use of Online Video*, The Shift Project, July 2019, https://theshiftproject.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/2019-02.pdf

Evans D, Schmalensee, R, *Network Effects: March to the Evidence, Not to the Slogans* (August 27, 2017). Forthcoming, Antitrust Chronicle. http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3027691

F

#1425 Evan Williams, Forbes, accessed 17 September 2019



https://www.forbes.com/profile/evan-williams/#1d1fbcc32134>

GLOBAL 2000 The World's Largest Public Companies, Forbes, May 15, accessed 17 September 2019 https://www.forbes.com/global2000/#7e78434b335d>

Flaxman S, Goel S, Rao M. J, *Filter Bubbles, Echo Chambers, and Online News Consumption, Public Opinion Quarterly*, Volume 80, Issue S1, 2016, Pages 298–320, https://doi.org/10.1093/poq/nfw006

Benefits, Facebook Careers, accessed 17 September 2019 https://www.facebook.com/careers/facebook-life/benefits>

Sustainability in numbers, Facebook Sustainability, accessed 17 September 2019 https://sustainability.fb.com/sustainability-in-numbers/>

Facebook Reports Second Quarter 2019 Results, Investor Relations, Facebook, accessed 17 September 2019

https://investor.fb.com/investor-news/press-release-details/2019/Facebook-Reports-Second-Quarter-2019-Results/default.aspx

Google Will Pay \$22.5 Million to Settle FTC Charges it Misrepresented Privacy Assurances to Users of Apple's Safari Internet Browser, FCT (Federal Trade Commission), August 9 2012, accessed 30 September 2019

Google and YouTube Will Pay Record \$170 Million for Alleged Violations of Children's Privacy Law,
FCT (Federal Trade Commission), September 4, accessed 30 September 2019
https://www.ftc.gov/news-events/press-releases/2012/08/google-will-pay-225-million-settle-ftc-charges-it-misrepresented

https://www.ftc.gov/news-events/press-releases/2019/09/google-youtube-will-pay-record-170-million-alleged-violations

Fitzgerald M, Instagram Starts Test To Hide Number of Likes Posts Receive for Users in 7 Countries, Time, July 18, accessed 17 September 2019
https://time.com/5629705/instagram-removing-likes-test/

Framasoft, accessed 17 September 2019 https://framasoft.org>

G

Gascoigne J, We Spent \$3.3M Buying Out Investors: Why and How We Did It, Buffer, August 29, 2018, accessed 17 September 2019 https://open.buffer.com/buying-out-investors/>

Gee B, Peck D, THE ILLUSION OF ASIAN SUCCESS, Scant Progress for Minorities in Cracking the Glass Ceiling from 2007–2015, Ascend

https://cdn.ymaws.com/www.ascendleadership.org/resource/resmgr/research/TheIllusionofAsianS uccess.pdf>



GeSI, Accenture Strategy, #SystemTransformation: How Digital Solutions Will Drive Progress Towards The Sustainable Development Goals, Global e-Sustainability Initiative http://systemtransformation-sdg.gesi.org/160608 GeSI SystemTransformation.pdf>

SMART 2020: Enabling the low carbon economy in the information age, The Climate Group, The Global eSustainability Initiative (GeSI), 2008, accessed 17 September 2019
https://www.theclimategroup.org/sites/default/files/archive/files/Smart2020Report.pdf

Email Marketing Benchmarks, GetResponse, June 2019, accessed 1 October 2019 https://www.getresponse.com/resources/reports/email-marketing-benchmarks>

Buffer, GitHub, accessed 17 September 2019 https://github.com/bufferapp/

Goggin B, 'Like you've been fired from your job': YouTubers have lost thousands of dollars after their channels were mistakenly demonetized for months, accessed 30 September 2019https://www.businessinsider.com/youtubers-entire-channels-can-get-mistakenly-demonetized-for-months-2019-8?IR=T>

Mighty Networks, Glassdoor, accessed 30 September 2019

https://www.glassdoor.es/Resumen/Trabajar-en-Mighty-Networks-El_IE1660456.12,27.htm?countryRedirect=true

Asana, Glassdoor, accessed 17 September 2019

https://www.glassdoor.es/Resumen/Trabajar-en-Asana-El_IE567443.12,17.htm?countryRedirect=true

Box, Glassdoor, accessed 30 September 2019

https://www.glassdoor.es/Resumen/Trabajar-en-Box-El_IE254092.12,15.htm?countryRedirect=true

Medium, Glassdoor, accessed 30 September 2019

https://www.glassdoor.es/Opiniones/Medium-California-Opiniones-E784883.htm?countryRedirect=true

Thinktific, Glassdoor, accessed 30 September 2019

https://www.glassdoor.es/Resumen/Trabajar-en-Thinkific-El IE1337450.12,21.htm

Twitter, Glassdoor, accessed 17 September 2019

https://www.glassdoor.com/Benefits/Twitter-US-Benefits-El IE100569.0,7 IL.8,10 IN1.htm

As G Suite gains traction in the enterprise, G Suite's Gmail and consumer Gmail to more closely align, Google, June 23 2017, accessed 30 September 2019

https://blog.google/products/gmail/g-suite-gains-traction-in-the-enterprise-g-suites-gmail-and-consumer-gmail-to-more-closely-align/

How we care for Googlers, Google Careers, accessed 30 September 2019 https://careers.google.com/how-we-care-for-googlers/>

Google Drive Terms of Service, Google, accessed 30 September 2019



https://www.google.com/drive/terms-of-service/

Google Cloud Sustainability, Google Cloud, accessed 30 September 2019 https://cloud.google.com/sustainability/

Google diversity annual report 2019, Google Diversity, Google, accessed 30 September 2019 https://diversity.google/annual-report/>

Environment, Google Sustainability, accessed 30 September 2019
<https://sustainability.google/environment>

Privacy Policy, Google, accessed 30 September 2019 https://www.google.com/policies/privacy/archive/20150501-20150605/>

The web is connecting customers with businesses of all kinds, Google Economic Impact, accessed 30 September 2019 https://economicimpact.google.com/

Great Places to Work, Squarespace, Great Place to Work, accessed 17 September 2019 https://www.greatplacetowork.com/certified-company/1244078>

Great Places to Work, Box, Great Place to Work, accessed 30 September 2019 https://www.greatplacetowork.com/best-workplaces/100-best/2019>

Clean Click Report, Greenpeace, 2017, accessed 17 September 2019 http://www.clickclean.org/international/en/>

Kate Brandt on Google's mission to make the circular economy a reality, GreenBiz, July 15, accessed 17 September 2019

https://www.greenbiz.com/video/kate-brandt-googles-mission-make-circular-economy-reality

Grinberg N, Joseph N, Friedland L, Swire-Thompson B, Lazer D Fake news on Twitter during the 2016 U.S. presidential election, Science, 25 Jan 2019: 374-378

Social: Flagship Report 2019, Global Web Index, accessed 17 September 2019

Н

Haim M, Graefe A & B Hans-Bernd *Burst of the Filter Bubble?, Digital Journalism*, 6:3, 330-343, 2018 DOI: <u>10.1080/21670811.2017.1338145</u>

Hampton K N, Social Media and Change in Psychological Distress Over Time: The Role of Social Causation, Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication, https://doi.org/10.1093/jcmc/zmz010

Harrison SI, *Instagram Now Fact-Checks, but Who Will Do the Checking?*, Wired, 16 August, accessed 17 September 2019

https://www.wired.com/story/instagram-fact-checks-who-will-do-checking/">https://www.wired.com/story/instagram-fact-checks-who-will-do-checking/



Hao k, *Google is finally admitting it has a filter-bubble problem*, Quartz, February 1 2018, accessed 17 September 2019

https://qz.com/1194566/google-is-finally-admitting-it-has-a-filter-bubble-problem/

Hazard, *The long, complicated, and extremely frustrating history of Medium, 2012–present,* NiemanLab, March 25 2019, accessed 30 September 2019

https://www.niemanlab.org/2019/03/the-long-complicated-and-extremely-frustrating-history-of-medium-2012-present/

Himelboim I, McCreery S, Smith M, Birds of a Feather Tweet Together: Integrating Network and Content Analyses to Examine Cross-Ideology Exposure on Twitter, 25 January 2013 https://doi.org/10.1111/jcc4.12001

Hindman M, *Disinformation, and Influence Campaignson Twitter 'Fake News'* George Washington University, <u>Journal of Cleaner Production Volume 177</u>, 10 March 2018, Pages 448-463

Holman J, Silicon Valley Is Using Trade Secrets to Hide Its Race Problem, 13 February, accessed 17 September 2019, Bloomberg

https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2019-02-13/silicon-valley-is-using-trade-secrets-to-hid-e-its-race-problem

Corporate Equality Index, Human Rights Campaign, accessed 17 September 2019 https://www.hrc.org/campaigns/corporate-equality-index>

Impact, He for She, UN, accessed 17 September 2019
<https://www.heforshe.org/en/impact>

22+ Instagram Stats That Marketers Can't Ignore This Year, Hootsuite, March 5, accessed 17 September 2019 https://blog.hootsuite.com/instagram-statistics/>

Hsiao S, *The ad tech industry is crowded and competitive*, Google, September 11, accessed 30 September 2019

https://www.blog.google/technology/ads/ad-tech-industry-crowded-and-competitive/

Huang C, *Time Spent on Social Network Sites and Psychological Well-Being: A Meta-Analysis*, Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw. 2017 Jun;20(6):346-354. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2016.0758

ı

YouTube's biggest star PewDiePie causes controversy with 'Death to all Jews' video, IBTimes, January 12 2017, accessed 30 September 2019

https://www.ibtimes.co.uk/youtubes-biggest-star-pewdiepie-causes-controversy-death-all-jews-vid eo-1600569>

Influencive, Facebook page organic reach continues marked decline, Grit Daily, Jun 16, accessed 17 September 2019

Instagram Business, accessed 17 September 2019 https://business.instagram.com/getting-started>



How does LinkedIn make money?, Investopedia, August 20 2018, accessed 17 September 2019 https://www.investopedia.com/ask/answers/120214/how-does-linkedin-lnkd-make-money.asp

ITU, *Statistics*, International Telecommunication Union , accessed 17 September 2019, https://www.itu.int/en/ITU-D/Statistics/Pages/stat/default.aspx>

ITU, ICTs and Energy Efficiency, International Telecommunication Union, accessed 17 September 2019, https://www.itu.int/en/action/climate/Pages/energy efficiency.aspx>

J

Johnson E, Why is there no fake news on LinkedIn? Listen to its editor explain, December 29, 2016, accessed 17 September 2019

https://www.vox.com/2016/12/29/14100064/linkedin-daniel-roth-fake-news-facebook-recode-podcast

Κ

Kain E, YouTube Wants Content Creators To Appeal Demonetization, But It's Not Always That Easy, Forbes, September 18 2017, accessed 30 September 2019,

https://www.forbes.com/sites/erikkain/2017/09/18/adpocalypse-2017-heres-what-you-need-to-know-about-youtubes-demonetization-troubles/#59500cfd6c26>

Kari P, Facebook and Google antitrust investigations: all you need to know, The Guardian, accessed 17 September 2019,

https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2019/sep/06/facebook-google-antitrust-investigations-explained

Kim L, 10 Facts About Canva CEO Melanie Perkins, INC, July 23, accessed 30 September 2019, https://www.inc.com/larry-kim/10-facts-about-canva-ceo-melanie-perkins.html

Kobie N, YouTube's carbon footprint is huge, but smarter web design could fix it, Wired, 7 May 2019, accessed 30 September 2019,

https://www.wired.co.uk/article/youtube-digital-waste-interaction-design">https://www.wired.co.uk/article/youtube-digital-waste-interaction-design

Koch R, *All the Internet shutdowns of 2019 so far*. ProtonVPN, accessed 17 September 2019, https://protonvpn.com/blog/internet-shutdown-2019/>

Khurana P, Kumar D, *Model for Fake News Spreading Through Whatsapp* (April 20, 2018). Proceedings of 3rd International Conference on Internet of Things and Connected Technologies (ICIoTCT), 2018 held at Malaviya National Institute of Technology, Jaipur (India) on March 26-27, 2018. http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3166095

L

Lakshaman R, India is still hounding WhatsApp to make its messages traceable, TNW, 18 July,



accessed 30 September 2019

https://thenextweb.com/security/2019/06/18/india-is-still-hounding-whatsapp-to-make-its-messages-traceable/

Lanier J, 2018, *Ten Arguments for Deleting Your Social Media Accounts Right Now,* Henry Holt and Company, New York

Lapowski I, *Facebook Exposed 87 Million Users to Cambridge Analytica*, Wired, 4 April 2018, accessed 17 September 2019

https://www.wired.com/story/facebook-exposed-87-million-users-to-cambridge-analytica/

Making life at LinkedIn even better, LinkedIn Careers, accessed 17 September 2019 https://careers.linkedin.com/benefits>

Privacy Policy, LinkedIn, accessed 17 September 2019

<https://www.linkedin.com/legal/privacy-policy>

Statistics, LinkedIn, accessed 17 September 2019 < https://news.linkedin.com/about-us#statistics>

The Sophisticated Marketer's Guide to LinkedIn, LinkedIn, 2017, accessed 17 September 2019, https://business.linkedin.com/content/dam/me/business/en-us/marketing-solutions/cx/2017/pdfs/Sophisticated-Marketers-Guide-to-LinkedIn-v03.12.pdf>

Lunden I, LinkedIn violated data protection by using 18M email addresses of non-members to buy targeted ads on Facebook, TechCrunch, November 24 2018, accessed 17 September 2019 https://techcrunch.com/2018/11/24/linkedin-ireland-data-protection/

Lunden I, Monday.com raises \$150M more, now at \$1.9B valuation, for workplace collaboration tools July 30, accessed 30 September 2019

https://techcrunch.com/2019/07/30/monday-com-raises-150m-more-now-at-1-9b-valuation-for-workplace-collaboration-tools/

Lichtig A, What is the best Google employee perk, and why?, February 7 2013, accessed 17 September 2019

<https://www.quora.com/What-is-the-best-Google-employee-perk-and-why/answer/Aaron-Lichtig?srid=5nPz&share=1>

Levinson K, What is the best Google employee perk, and why?, February 21 2018, accessed 17 September 2019

https://www.quora.com/Working-at-Google-1/What-is-the-best-Google-employee-perk-and-why? awc=15748_1569598536_21400a04a4f8f55fa075dfc53276ce4f&uiv=6&txtv=8&source=awin&mediu m=ad&campaign=uad mkt en acq us awin&set=awin&pub id=78888>

М

M Maack, 'YouTube recommendations are toxic,' says dev who worked on the algorithm' 14 June, accessed 30 September 2019



https://thenextweb.com/google/2019/06/14/youtube-recommendations-toxic-algorithm-google-ai/ https://thenextweb.com/google/2019/06/14/youtube-recommendations-toxic-algorithm-google-ai/ https://thenextweb.com/google/2019/06/14/youtube-recommendations-toxic-algorithm-google-ai/ https://thenextweb.com/google/2019/06/14/youtube-recommendations-toxic-algorithm-google-ai/ https://thenextweb.com/google/2019/06/14/youtube-recommendations-toxic-algorithm-google-ai/ https://thenextweb.com/google/2019/06/14/youtube-recommendations-toxic-algorithm-google-ai/ https://thenextweb.com/google-ai/ https://thenextweb.com/google-ai/ https://thenextweb

D Majumber, *How does the Telegram app make money?*, January 29, accessed 30 September 2019 https://www.quora.com/How-does-the-Telegram-app-make-money>

Code of Conduct, Mastodon, accessed 30 September 2019 https://mastodon.social/about/more

McCahill L, Our move to Mighty Networks seems to be working. Here's 12 reasons why..., Medium, April 30 2018, accessed 30 September 2019

https://medium.com/the-happy-startup-school/our-move-to-mighty-networks-seems-to-be-working-heres-12-reasons-why-55afb0bd0316

MacMillan D, *Tech's 'Dirty Secret': The App Developers Sifting Through Your Gmail,* 2 July 2018, accessed 30 September 2019

https://www.wsj.com/articles/techs-dirty-secret-the-app-developers-sifting-through-your-gmail-15 30544442>

B Makush, YouTube Decides to Leave Neo-Nazi Propaganda Online, Vice, April 2, accessed 30 September 2019

https://www.vice.com/en_us/article/mbzzzx/youtube-decides-to-leave-neo-nazi-propaganda-onlinge

Malmodin J, Lundén D, *The Energy and Carbon Footprint of the Global ICT and E&M Sectors* 2010–2015 Ericsson Research, Sustainability 2018, 10(9), 3027; https://doi.org/10.3390/su10093027

Mather M, Mitchell K, Raye C. L, Novak L D, Greene J. E, Marcia K. Johnson Emotional Arousal Can Impair Feature Binding in Working Memory, Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience archive Volume 18 Issue 4, April 2006, 614-625 0.1162/jocn.2006.18.4.614

Martinez A, Facebook is not a Monopoly but it should be broken up, Wired, 14 March 2019, accessed 17 September 2019

https://www.wired.com/story/facebook-not-monopoly-but-should-broken-up/">https://www.wired.com/story/facebook-not-monopoly-but-should-broken-up/

Martineau P, YouTube is banning hate speech: Will it Work, Wired, 5 June, accessed 17 September 2019

https://www.wired.com/story/how-effective-youtube-latest-ban-extremism/>

Martineau P, Remember when Google said it would stop reading your email?, The Outline, May 11 2018, accessed 30 September 2019

https://theoutline.com/post/4524/remember-when-google-said-it-would-stop-reading-your-email?zd=2&zi=hdfzpihi

Matrix Foundation, accessed 30 September 2019 < https://matrix.org/foundation/>



The Carbon Footprint of Email Spam Report, McAfee, ICF, 2009, accessed 17 September 2019 http://www.mclellanwritingteam.com/files/mcafee_report_carbon_footprint_of_email.pdf

Why marketers should keep sending you e-mails, McKensey, January 2014, accessed 17 September 2019

https://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/marketing-and-sales/our-insights/why-marketers-should-keep-sending-you-emails>

Medium, *The Post Stays Up*, January 26, 2016, accessed 30 September 2019 https://blog.medium.com/the-post-stays-up-d222e34cb7e7#.ktxnppicb

Medium Help Center, *Your Stats*, accessed 30 September 2019 https://help.medium.com/hc/en-us/articles/215108608-Your-stats>

Work at Medium, Medium Jobs, Medium, accessed 30 September 2019 https://medium.com/jobs-at-medium/work-at-medium-959d1a85284e>

Membership, Medium, accessed 30 September 2019 https://medium.com/membership>

Melissa G. Hunt, Rachel Marx, Courtney Lipson, and Jordyn Young, *No More FOMO: Limiting Social Media Decreases Loneliness and Depression* Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology 2018 37, 10, 751-768 10.1521/jscp.2018.37.10.751

Melvin J, What's the carbon footprint of an email?, November 26, 2015, accessed 17 September 2019

<https://phys.org/news/2015-11-carbon-footprint-email.html>

Meshi D, Elizarova A, Bende A, Verdejo-garcia A, *Excessive social media users demonstrate impaired decision making in Iowa test*, Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery, Montreal Neurological Institute, McGill University, Montreal https://akademiai.com/doi/pdf/10.1556/2006.7.2018.138

Meyer-Resende M, A New Frontier, Social Media / Networks Disinformation And Public International Law In The Context Of Election Observation, Democracy Reporting International, accessed 17 September 2019,

https://democracy-reporting.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/A-new-frontier_social-media_election-observation Briefing-Paper-by-Michael-Meyer-Resende.pdf>

Bill, MeWe, accessed 17 September 2019 < https://mewe.com/#bill>

Microsoft CSR, accessed 30 September 2019,

https://www.microsoft.com/en-us/corporate-responsibility/sustainability/operations

Pricing, Mighty Networks, accessed 30 September 2019,



https://www.mightynetworks.com/pricing

Miles T, U.N. investigators cite Facebook role in Myanmar crisis, Reuters, March 12 2018, accessed 17 September 2019

<a href="https://www.reuters.com/article/us-myanmar-rohingya-facebook/u-n-investigators-cite-facebook-rohingya-facebook/u-n-investigators-cite-facebook-rohingya-facebook/u-n-investigators-cite-facebook-rohingya-facebook/u-n-investigators-cite-facebook-rohingya-facebook/u-n-investigators-cite-facebook-rohingya-facebook/u-n-investigators-cite-facebook-rohingya-facebook/u-n-investigators-cite-facebook-rohingya-facebook/u-n-investigators-cite-facebook-rohingya-facebook/u-n-investigators-cite-facebook-rohingya-facebook/u-n-investigators-cite-facebook-rohingya-facebook/u-n-investigators-cite-facebook-rohingya-facebook-rohi

S Milward, *Medium is now blocked in China*, 15 April 2016, accessed 17 September 2019 https://www.techinasia.com/medium-blocked-china-bcuz-of-course>

Moeller J, Helberger N, *Beyond the filter bubble: Concepts, myths, evidence and issues for future debates*, University of Amsterdam, 25 June 2018

https://dare.uva.nl/search?identifier=478edb9e-8296-4a84-9631-c7360d593610>

Morrison S, White Supremacists, Brought To You By Squarespace, Vocativ, 27 September 2017, accessed 17 September 2019

https://www.vocativ.com/424197/white-supremacists-squarespace-richard-spencer-nathan-damigo/index.html

Mostrous A, Google pulls Hezbollah YouTube channel after we told them about the drone ads, The Times, February 9 2017, accessed 30 September 2019

https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/big-brands-fund-terror-knnxfgb98?wgu=270525_54264_15698
262879589_29b32afea7&wgexpiry=1577602287&utm_source=planit&utm_medium=affiliate&utm_content=22278>

Myanmar military leaders must face genocide charges – UN report, UN News, UN, 27 August 2018, accessed 17 September 2019 https://news.un.org/en/story/2018/08/1017802>

Ν

Newton C, Why Vine died, The Verge, October 28 2016, accessed 17 September 2019 https://www.theverge.com/2016/10/28/13456208/why-vine-died-twitter-shutdown

Newton C, YouTube says it will recommend fewer videos about conspiracy theories, The Verge, January 25 2019, accessed 30 September 2019

https://www.theverge.com/2019/1/25/18197301/youtube-algorithm-conspiracy-theories-misinformation

Newton C, How extremism came to thrive on YouTube, The Verge, April 9, accessed 30 September 2019

https://www.theverge.com/interface/2019/4/3/18293293/youtube-extremism-criticism-bloomber g>

Newton C, *Bodies in Seats*, The Verge, June 19 2019, accessed 17 September 2019 https://www.theverge.com/2019/6/19/18681845/facebook-moderator-interviews-video-trauma-p



tsd-cognizant-tampa>

Pricing, NextCloud, accessed 17 September 2019 < https://nextcloud.com/pricing/>

Providers, NextCloud, accessed 17 September 2019https://nextcloud.com/providers/>

0

Orlowski, *Google pulls Hezbollah YouTube channel after we told them about the drone ads,* The Register, 24 March 2017, accessed 30 September 2019,

https://www.theregister.co.uk/2017/03/24/google_is_advertising_drones_on_hezbollahs_youtube_channel/

Orphanides KG, *Children's YouTube is still churning out blood, suicide and cannibalism,* Wired, 23 March 2018, accessed 30 September 2019,

https://www.wired.co.uk/article/youtube-for-kids-videos-problems-algorithm-recommend

Ophir E, Nass C, Wagner D. A, *Cognitive control in media multitaskers*PNAS September 15, 2009 106 (37) 15583-15587; https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0903620106

Ρ

Patel N, *Is Google Drive worse for privacy than iCloud, Skydrive, and Dropbox?*, The Verge, April 25 2012, accessed 17 September 2019

https://www.theverge.com/2012/4/25/2973849/google-drive-terms-privacy-data-skydrive-dropbo https://www.theverge.com/2012/4/25/2973849/google-drive-terms-privacy-data-skydrive-dropbo https://www.theverge.com/2012/4/25/2973849/google-drive-terms-privacy-data-skydrive-dropbo

PeerTube, accessed 30 September 2019 https://joinpeertube.org/en/>

Americans are changing their relationship with Facebook, Pew Research Center, September 5 2018, accessed 17 September 2019

https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2018/09/05/americans-are-changing-their-relationship-with-facebook/

News Use Across Social Media Platforms 2018, Pew Research Center,
September 10, 2018, accessed 17 September 2019,
https://www.journalism.org/2018/09/10/news-use-across-social-media-platforms-2018/>

Pichai S, *Our biggest renewable energy purchase ever*, September 19, accessed 17 September 2019, https://www.blog.google/outreach-initiatives/sustainability/our-biggest-renewable-energy-purchase-e-ever/

Pittman M, Reich B (2016) *Social media and loneliness: Why an Instagram picture may be worth more than a thousand Twitter words*. Comput Hum Behav 62:155–167 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/299997003 Social media and loneliness Why an Inst



agram picture may be worth more than a thousand Twitter words

Popken B, Google sells the future, powered by your personal data, NBC, May 10 2018, accessed 17 September 2019,

https://www.nbcnews.com/tech/tech-news/google-sells-future-powered-your-personal-data-n870
501>

Praiser E, The Filter Bubble: The Filter Bubble: How the New Personalized Web Is Changing What We Read and How We Think, Penguin Books, New York 2012

ProtonMail, accessed 30 September 2019, https://protonmail.com/>

R

Ranadive A, New Tools to Manage Your Time on Facebook and Instagram, Facebook, August 1, 2018, accessed 17 September 2019

https://newsroom.fb.com/news/2018/08/manage-your-time/

Ravikumar S, WhatsApp launches fact-check service to fight fake news during India polls, Reuters, April 3, accessed 30 September 2019

https://www.reuters.com/article/facebook-whatsapp/whatsapp-launches-fact-check-service-to-fig https://www.reuters.com/article/facebook-whatsapp/whatsapp-launches-fact-check-service-to-fig htt-fake-news-during-india-polls-idUSKCN1RE0HD>

Reichert C, WhatsApp Pay is coming this year, CNET, July 30, accessed 30 September 2019 https://www.cnet.com/news/whatsapp-pay-is-coming-this-year-report-says/>

Vimeo revenue hits \$160 million in 2018, paying users near 1 million, Reuters, accessed 30 September 2019

https://www.businessinsider.com/r-vimeo-revenue-hits-160-million-in-2018-paying-users-near-1-million-2019-2?IR=T

r/ProtonMail, *ProtonMail & Climate Change*, Reddit, accessed 30 September 2019 https://www.reddit.com/r/ProtonMail/comments/axoo99/protonmail_climate_change/>

Rey B, Your tweet half-life is 1 billion times shorter than Carbon-14's, Wiselytics, March 5 2014, accessed 17 September 2019

http://www.wiselytics.com/blog/tweet-isbillion-time-shorter-than-carbon14/

Riot, accessed 30 September 2019 https://about.riot.im/features>

2019 Social Media Industry Benchmark Report, Rival IQ, February 15, accessed 30 September 2019 https://www.rivaliq.com/blog/2019-social-media-benchmark-report/>

Roth D, *LinkedIn Top Voices 2018: Influencers*, LinkedIn, November 13, 2018, accessed 17 September 2019, https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/linkedin-top-voices-2018-influencers-daniel-roth/



Roettgers J, Google Will Keep Reading Your Emails, Just Not for Ads, June 23, 2017, Variety, accessed 17 September 2019,

https://variety.com/2017/digital/news/google-gmail-ads-emails-1202477321/

Roose K, YouTube's Product Chief on Online Radicalization and Algorithmic Rabbit Holes, 29 March, accessed 30 September 2019,

https://www.nytimes.com/2019/03/29/technology/youtube-online-extremism.html

Russell J, *Telegram has raised an initial \$850M for its billion-dollar ICO,* February 17 2018, accessed 30 September 2019, https://techcrunch.com/2018/02/16/telegram-ico-850-million/>

S

Sadighi M, Ghobadi M, Hasanpour, S H. (2015). *A Conceptual Model for Customer Lock-in Effect in Electronic Business*. Proceedings - 12th International Conference on Information Technology: New Generations, ITNG 2015. 746-750. 10.1109/ITNG.2015.128.

Samovat P, Namboodiri V (2011) Energy Consumption of Personal Computing Including Portable Communication Devices, Department of Electrical Engineering and Computer Science, Wichita State University

https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/045c/04cbd3c26f3c9d3951e71f4dc38a2ac26a4c.pdf

Sawers P, WhatsApp vulnerability allowed spyware to be installed on smartphones, Venture Beat, May 14, accessed 30 September 2019,

https://venturebeat.com/2019/05/14/whatsapp-vulnerability-allowed-spyware-to-be-installed-on-smartphones/

Scatt N, AT&T and Verizon pull ads from Google and YouTube over hate speech, The Verge, Mar 22, 2017, accessed 30 September 2019

https://www.theverge.com/2017/3/22/15029214/att-verizon-google-youtube-pull-ads-boycott-hat-e-speech

Sehl K, How the LinkedIn Algorithm Works And How to Make it Work for You, Hootsuite, 9 August, accessed 17 September 2019,

https://blog.hootsuite.com/how-the-linkedin-algorithm-works-hacks/

Shepeardson D, Google to pay up to \$200 million to FTC on YouTube probe: source, Reuters, August 30, accessed 17 September 2019,

https://www.reuters.com/article/us-alphabet-ftc/google-to-pay-up-to-200-million-to-ftc-on-youtub e-probe-source-idUSKCN1VK23L>

Shepherd A, Sanders C, Doyle & Jenny M, *Using social media for support and feedback by mental health service users: thematic analysis of a twitter conversation BMC Psychiatry* volume 15, Article number: 29 (2015)

https://bmcpsychiatry.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12888-015-0408-y

Shwartz A, *How Much Energy Does a Tweet Consume?*, 19 April 2010, accessed 17 September 2019 https://www.fastcompany.com/1620676/how-much-energy-does-tweet-consume>



Exclusive: Messaging app Telegram moves to protect identity of Hong Kong protesters, 31 August, accessed 30 September 2019

https://www.reuters.com/article/us-hongkong-telegram-exclusive/exclusive-messaging-app-telegram-exclusive-messaging-app-telegra

Signal, accessed 30 September 2019 https://signal.org/#page-top>

Sini R, 'You are being programmed,' former Facebook executive warns, BBC, 12 December 2017 accessed 17 September 2019

<https://www.bbc.com/news/blogs-trending-42322746>

Singh S, A former BJP data analyst reveals how the party's WhatsApp groups work, February 21, accessed 30 September 2019

https://qz.com/india/1553765/bjps-whatsapp-ops-is-what-cambridge-analytica-can-only-dream-of/

Sing M, WhatsApp reaches 400 million users in India, its biggest market, July 26, accessed 30 September 2019 https://techcrunch.com/2019/07/26/whatsapp-india-users-400-million/>

Sîrbu A, Pedreschi D, Giannotti F, Kertész J (2019) *Algorithmic bias amplifies opinion fragmentation and polarization: A bounded confidence model.* PLoS ONE 14(3): e0213246. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0213246

Online Course Platforms, Software Advice, accessed 30 September 2019 https://www.softwareadvice.com/lms/online-course-platform-comparison/p/all/>

Solon O, Former Facebook and Google workers launch campaign to fight tech addiction, The Guardian, 5 February 2018, accessed 17 September 2019
https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2018/feb/05/tech-addiction-former-facebook-google-employees-campaign

Sloane G, Sean Parker Says Facebook Was Designed to Be Addictive, November 9 2018, accessed 17 September 2019, Ad Age

https://adage.com/article/digital/sean-parker-worries-facebook-rotting-children-s-brains/311238

Number of monthly active Facebook users worldwide as of 2nd quarter 2019 (in millions), Statista, accessed 17 September 2019

https://www.statista.com/statistics/264810/number-of-monthly-active-facebook-users-worldwide/

Number of active Gmail users worldwide from January 2012 to October 2018 (in millions), Statista, accessed 30 September 2019

https://www.statista.com/statistics/432390/active-gmail-users/

Google - Statistics & Facts, Statista, accessed 30 September 2019 https://www.statista.com/topics/1001/google/>

Google's revenue worldwide from 2002 to 2018 (in billion U.S. dollars), Statista, accessed 30 September 2019 https://www.statista.com/statistics/266206/googles-annual-global-revenue/>

Number of daily active WhatsApp Status users from 1st quarter 2017 to 1st quarter 2019 (in



millions), Statista, accessed 30 September 2019 < https://www.statista.com/statistics/730306/whatsapp-status-dau/>

Srivastava M, WhatsApp voice calls used to inject Israeli spyware on phones, Financial Times, May 14, accessed 30 September 2019

https://www.ft.com/content/4da1117e-756c-11e9-be7d-6d846537acab

Stecklow S, *Hatebook: Inside Facebook's Myanmar operation*, Reuters, Aug. 15, 2018, accessed 17 September 2019 https://www.reuters.com/investigates/special-report/myanmar-facebook-hate/>

Stenis C, *Defining what makes Twitter's audience unique*, Twitter November 2018, accessed 17 September 2019

https://blog.twitter.com/marketing/en_us/topics/research/2018/defining-what-makes-twitters-au-dience-unique.html

Stoll C, Klaaßen L, Gallersdörfer U, *The Carbon Footprint of Bitcoin*, Article, Volume 3, ISSUE 7, P1647-1661, July 17, 2019 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joule.2019.05.012

Summerson C, Google Drive Has a Serious Spam Problem, But Google Says a Fix is Coming, How To Geek, January 4 2019, accessed 30 September 2019

https://www.howtogeek.com/400511/google-drive-has-a-serious-spam-problem-and-google-doesn-t-seem-to-care/

Smith A, Social Media USe 2018, Pew Research Center,
September 10, 2018, accessed 17 September 2019,
https://www.pewinternet.org/2018/03/01/social-media-use-in-2018/>

Acceptable Use Policy, Squarespace, accessed 17 September 2019 https://www.squarespace.com/acceptable-use-policy/

Join Our Team, Squarespace, accessed 17 September 2019 https://www.squarespace.com/about/careers>

Where does Squarespace store my data?, SquareSpace, accessed 17 September 2019 https://support.squarespace.com/hc/en-us/articles/115012540827-Where-does-Squarespace-store-my-data

Using Mailchimp with Squarespace, Squarespace, accessed 17 September 2019 https://support.squarespace.com/hc/en-us/articles/205815508-Using-Mailchimp-with-Squarespace>

Sullivan 2019, Facebook is expanding its tools to make content moderation less toxic, Fast Company, 24 June 2019, accessed 17 September 2019

https://www.fastcompany.com/90367858/facebook-is-expanding-its-tools-to-make-content-moder ation-less-toxic>

Т

Tambini O, *WhatsApp ads to appear in app from 2020*, TechRadar, May 23, accessed 30 September 2019 https://www.techradar.com/news/whatsapp-ads-to-appear-in-app-from-2020>



Tangerman V, So, Yeah: Facebook Is Mining Your Instagram Photos, Too, Futurism, May 4 2018, accessed 17 September 2019 https://futurism.com/facebook-mining-instagram-photos>

WhatsApp offers \$50,000 for ideas to stop fake news spread as India orders it to take action over lynchings, Telegraph, 4 July 2018, accessed 30 September 2019

https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/2018/07/04/india-calls-whatsapp-help-end-spate-lynchings-sp arked-rumours/>

200,000,000 Monthly Active Users, Telegram, accessed 30 September 2019 https://telegram.org/blog/200-million>

The Cleaners 2009, online documentary, Grifa Filmes, WDR, NDR,rbb, VPRO, Play TV,I Wonder Pictures, written and directed by Hans Block and Moritz Riesewieck, viewed 26 August 2019, http://gebrueder-beetz.de/en/productions/the-cleaners

The Elephant in the Valley, accessed 17 September 2019, https://www.elephantinthevalley.com/

Policies + Equity Access, The UnSchool, accessed 17 September 2019, https://www.unschools.co/sustainability-code>

The 2019 World's Most Ethical Companies® Honoree List, The Ethisphere® Institute, accessed 17 September 2019

https://www.worldsmostethicalcompanies.com/honorees/?fwp country=united-states>

Careers, Thinktific, accessed 30 September 2019 https://www.thinkific.com/careers/

Thompson D, Google's CEO: 'The Laws Are Written by Lobbyists', The Atlantic, October 1 2010, accessed 30 September 2019

https://www.theatlantic.com/technology/archive/2010/10/googles-ceo-the-laws-are-written-by-lobbyists/63908/

Tung L, Google Docs lockout: It's fixed, Google says, but users fret over 'creepy monitoring', November 1 2017, accessed 30 September 2019

https://www.zdnet.com/article/google-docs-lockout-its-fixed-google-says-but-users-fret-over-cree
py-monitoring/>

Turner, P.G. & Lefevre, C.E. *Eat Weight Disord* (2017) 22: 277. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40519-017-0364-2

Green email is the future: Tutanota uses 100% renewable energy, TutaNota, accessed 30 September 2019 https://tutanota.com/blog/posts/green-email/>

Fridays for Future: Tutanota joins the climate demonstrations, TutaNota, accessed 30 September 2019 https://tutanota.com/blog/posts/join-climate-strike-fridays-for-future/>



Privacy, Twitter, accessed 17 September 2019 < https://twitter.com/en/privacy>

Twitter Announces First Quarter 2019 Results, Twitter, PR NewsWire, April 23, accessed 17 September 2019

https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/twitter-announces-first-quarter-2019-results-3008363
20.html>

The 2014 #YearOnTwitter, Twitter, accessed 17 September 2019 https://blog.twitter.com/official/en_us/a/2014/the-2014-yearontwitter.html>

Twitter, Indeed, March 17, accessed 17 September 2019 https://www.indeed.com/cmp/Twitter/reviews?ftopic=paybenefits

U

Emission Gap Report 2018, ICCP, UN Environment, accessed 17 September 2019 https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/12/UNEP-1.pdf>

٧

Verma A, German Government Chooses Open Source For Its Federal Cloud Solution, April 18 2018, accessed 30 September 2019

https://fossbytes.com/german-government-open-source-cloud-nextcloud/">https://fossbytes.com/german-government-open-source-cloud-nextcloud/

About, Vimeo, accessed 30 September 2019 < https://vimeo.com/about>

Vincent J, *Gmail is now blocking 100 million extra spam messages every day with AI*, The Verge, February 6, accessed 30 September 2019

https://www.theverge.com/2019/2/6/18213453/gmail-tensorflow-machine-learning-spam-100-million

Vincent J, Google hit with €1.5 billion antitrust fine by EU, The Verge, March 20, accessed 30 September 2019

https://www.theverge.com/2019/3/20/18270891/google-eu-antitrust-fine-adsense-advertising

Vincent J, Google fined a record €2.4 billion by the EU for manipulating search results, June 27 2017, accessed 30 September 2019

https://www.theverge.com/2017/6/27/15872354/google-eu-fine-antitrust-shopping

W

Wang S, Medium abruptly cancels the membership programs of its 21 remaining subscription publisher partners, May 10 2018, Nieman Lab, accessed 30 September 2019



https://www.niemanlab.org/2018/05/medium-abruptly-cancels-the-membership-programs-of-its-2 1-remaining-publisher-partners/>

Walther A, *Protecting privacy also means preserving democracy*, Ecole Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne, accessed 17 September 2019 https://phys.org/news/2014-09-privacy-democracy.html

Wanger R, Facebook may be facing a "multibillion-dollar" fine from the FTC. Here's why, Vox, Feb 14, accessed 17 September 2019

https://www.vox.com/2019/1/23/18193314/facebook-ftc-fine-investigation-explained-privacy-agreement

Welch C, YouTube now responds to searches for terrorist videos with playlists that debunk extremism, , The Verge, July 20 2017, accessed 30 September 2019 https://www.theverge.com/2017/7/20/16003296/youtube-redirect-method-anti-terrorist-videos-search

E Williams, What we're trying to do with Medium, Medium, October 25 2012, accessed 30 September 2019

https://medium.com/@ev/what-were-trying-to-do-with-medium-e2f5bfcf0434">https://medium.com/@ev/what-were-trying-to-do-with-medium-e2f5bfcf0434

Williams M, Facebook 2019 Diversity Report: Advancing Diversity and Inclusion, Facebook, accessed 17 September 2019, https://newsroom.fb.com/news/2019/07/2019-diversity-report/

Wong J C, Facebook revenues soar despite \$5.1bn in fines and new antitrust investigation, The Guardian, 24 July 2019, accessed 17 September 2019

https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2019/jul/24/facebook-revenue-fines-second-quarter

CO2 emissions (metric tons per capita), World Bank, accessed 19 October 2019 https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/en.atm.co2e.pc

Υ

Yatagan M, What is the best Google employee perk, and why?, Quora, February 7 2013, accessed 17 September 2019

https://www.quora.com/What-is-the-best-Google-employee-perk-and-why/answer/Murat-Yatagan?srid=5nPz&share=1>

Update on our actions related to the safety of minors on YouTube, Youtube Help, 3 January, accessed 17 September 2019

https://support.google.com/youtube/thread/1805616?hl=en

YouTube for Press,Youtube, accessed 30 September 2019
<https://www.youtube.com/about/press/>

Z



Zanon G, No, end-to-end encryption does not prevent Facebook from accessing WhatsApp chats, April 18 2018, accessed 17 September 2019,

https://medium.com/@gzanon/no-end-to-end-encryption-does-not-prevent-facebook-from-access ing-whatsapp-chats-d7c6508731b2>

Zantal-Wiener A, A Year After Facebook's Big News Feed Algorithm Change, What Kind of Content Does Best?, HubsPot, March 21, accessed 17 September 2019

https://blog.hubspot.com/news-trends/engagement-after-facebook-news-feed-algorithm-change

For more information on the UnShcool please visit <u>www.unschool.co</u>